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                               THE ST. JOE COMPANY 
                           CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
                             (Dollars in thousands) 
 
 
 
                                                       September 30,        December 31, 
                                                            1998                1997 
                                                        (Unaudited) 
                                                                               
ASSETS 
Current assets: 
  Cash & cash equivalents                               $    85,388         $   158,568 
  Short-term investments                                     53,649              51,034 
  Accounts receivable                                        39,874              58,623 
  Inventory                                                  12,687              15,605 
  Other assets                                               37,233              18,562 
                                                        -----------         ----------- 
    Total current assets                                    228,831             302,392 
 
Investments & Other Assets: 
  Marketable securities                                     287,717             306,910 
  Prepaid pension asset                                      47,878              40,861 
  Other assets                                              151,770              37,341 
                                                        -----------         ----------- 
    Total investment and other assets                       487,365             385,112 
 
Property, plant & equipment, net                            918,100             859,137 
 
                                                        -----------         ----------- 
Total assets                                            $ 1,634,296         $ 1,546,641 
                                                        ===========         =========== 
 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current Liabilities: 
  Accounts payable                                      $    31,729         $    29,735 
  Accrued liabilities                                        48,529              18,777 
  Current portion of long-term debt                          18,917                  -- 
  Income tax payable                                          6,541               2,150 
                                                        -----------         ----------- 
    Total current liabilities                               105,716              50,662 
 
Accrued casualty reserves and other liabilities              16,241              15,014 
Deferred income taxes                                       288,025             275,695 
Long-term debt                                               13,538                  -- 
Minority interest in consolidated subsidiaries              311,567             298,466 
 
Stockholders' Equity: 
  Common stock, no par value; 180,000,000 shares 
  authorized; 91,697,811 issued                              13,054              13,054 
  Retained earnings                                         836,942             817,663 
  Accumulated comprehensive income                           88,167              79,559 
  Treasury stock, 1,743,990 shares, at cost                 (36,133)                 -- 
  Restricted stock deferred compensation                     (2,821)             (3,472) 
                                                        -----------         ----------- 
    Total stockholders' equity                              899,209             906,804 
 
                                                        -----------         ----------- 
    Total liabilities and stockholders' equity          $ 1,634,296         $ 1,546,641 
                                                        ===========         =========== 
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                               THE ST. JOE COMPANY 
 
             CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND RETAINED EARNINGS 
                                   (UNAUDITED) 
                             (DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                 Three months                          Nine months 
                                                               ended September 30,                  ended September 30, 
                                                             1998               1997              1998               1997 
 
                                                                                                               
Net sales                                               $     14,845       $     11,047       $     62,399       $     79,566 
Operating revenues                                            93,047             58,366            217,617            172,328 
                                                        ------------       ------------       ------------       ------------ 
    Total revenues                                           107,892             69,413            280,016            251,894 
 
Cost of sales                                                  3,763              4,825             35,726             61,591 
Operating expenses                                            53,913             33,226            125,345             99,320 
Depreciation and amortization                                 10,083              7,911             27,560             22,600 
Selling, general and 
  administrative expenses                                     22,298              7,564             46,663             26,367 
                                                        ------------       ------------       ------------       ------------ 
      Operating profit                                        17,835             15,887             44,722             42,016 
 
Other income (expense): 
  Dividends                                                    1,429                926              3,561              2,583 
  Interest income                                              3,637              6,719             13,548             21,955 
  Interest expense                                              (158)               (89)              (301)              (331)
  Gain on sales and other dispositions of property               428                206                960              3,305 
  Other, net                                                   2,293              2,346              6,151              5,138 
                                                        ------------       ------------       ------------       ------------ 
      Total other income (expense)                             7,629             10,108             23,919             32,650 
                                                        ------------       ------------       ------------       ------------ 
Income before income taxes and minority interest              25,464             25,995             68,641             74,666 
 
Income tax expense: 
  Current                                                      8,530              7,734             21,695             22,188 
  Deferred                                                     2,044              3,698              7,762             10,793 
                                                        ------------       ------------       ------------       ------------ 
     Total income tax expense                                 10,574             11,432             29,457             32,981 
Income before minority interest                               14,890             14,563             39,184             41,685 
 
Minority interest                                              5,653              5,507             14,419             13,404 
                                                        ------------       ------------       ------------       ------------ 
Net income                                              $      9,237       $      9,056       $     24,765       $     28,281 
                                                        ------------       ------------       ------------       ------------ 
 
Retained earnings at beginning of period                $    829,525       $    835,669       $    817,663       $  1,125,161 
  Dividends                                                   (1,820)            (1,528)            (5,486)          (310,244)
                                                        ------------       ------------       ------------       ------------ 
Retained earnings at end of period                      $    836,942       $    843,198       $    836,942       $    843,198 
 
Per Share Data: 
Basic                                                   $       0.10       $       0.10       $       0.27       $       0.31 
                                                        ============       ============       ============       ============ 
 
Diluted                                                 $       0.10       $       0.10       $       0.27       $       0.30 
                                                        ============       ============       ============       ============ 
 
Shares Outstanding: 
Basic                                                     90,950,488         91,697,811         91,448,703         91,694,113 
Diluted                                                   91,699,715         93,228,640         92,950,327         92,882,649 
 
 
 
 
 
                                       4 



   5 
 
 
                               THE ST. JOE COMPANY 
                      CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
                                   (UNAUDITED) 
                             (DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                Nine Months 
                                                                             ended September 30, 
                                                                             1998          1997 
                                                                            (dollars in thousands) 
                                                                                            
Cash flows from operating activities: 
  Net income                                                               $  24,765       $  28,281 
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 
    provided by operating activities: 
    Depreciation, depletion and amortization                                  27,560          23,635 
    Minority interest in income                                               14,419          13,404 
    Equity in earnings of joint ventures                                        (669)             -- 
    Gain on sale of property                                                    (960)         (3,682) 
    Deferred income tax expense                                                7,762          12,327 
    Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions: 
      Accounts receivable                                                     24,007          18,174 
      Inventory                                                                2,918           5,985 
      Other assets                                                           (16,368)        (26,870) 
      Accounts payable, accrued liabilities and casualty reserves             12,672           6,971 
      Income taxes payable                                                     4,391          (2,988) 
                                                                           ---------       --------- 
Net cash provided by operating activities                                    100,497          75,237 
 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
  Purchases of property, plant and equipment                                 (84,818)        (53,256) 
  Purchases of investments: 
    Available for sale                                                      (724,606)        (49,615) 
    Held to maturity                                                              --        (100,336) 
  Payment for acquisitions and joint ventures, net of cash acquired          (97,959)             -- 
  Proceeds from disposition of assets                                          6,262          14,904 
  Maturities and redemptions of investments: 
    Available for sale                                                       758,616          62,434 
    Held to maturity                                                          11,000         114,096 
                                                                           ---------       --------- 
Net cash used in investing activities                                       (131,505)        (11,773) 
 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
  Increase in notes payable and line of credit, net                              700              -- 
  Treasury stock purchased                                                   (36,133)             -- 
  Dividends and special distributions paid to stockholders                    (5,486)       (310,244) 
  Dividends paid to minority interest                                         (1,253)         (1,247) 
Net cash used in financing activities                                        (42,172)       (311,491) 
 
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents                                    (73,180)       (248,027) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period                             158,568         449,013 
                                                                           ---------       --------- 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period                                 $  85,388       $ 200,986 
                                                                           =========       ========= 
 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: 
  Cash paid during the period for: 
    Interest                                                               $     301       $     331 
    Income taxes                                                           $  17,238       $  25,776 
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                               THE ST. JOE COMPANY 
                   NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
                                   (UNAUDITED) 
                             (DOLLARS IN THOUSANDS) 
 
1.       The accompanying unaudited interim financial statements have been 
         prepared pursuant to the rules and regulations for reporting on Form 
         10-Q. Accordingly, certain information and footnotes required by 
         generally accepted accounting principles for complete financial 
         statements are not included herein. The interim statements should be 
         read in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto 
         included in the Company's latest Annual Report on Form 10-K. In the 
         opinion of the Company, the accompanying unaudited consolidated 
         financial statements contain all adjustments (consisting of only normal 
         recurring accruals) necessary to present fairly the financial position 
         as of September 30, 1998 and December 31, 1997 and the results of 
         operations and cash flows for the nine month periods ended September 
         30, 1998 and 1997. The results of operations for the three-month and 
         nine-month periods ended September 30, 1998 and 1997 are not 
         necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the full 
         year. Certain reclassifications of 1997 amounts between net sales and 
         operating revenues and cost of sales and operating expenses have been 
         made to be consistent with current year reporting. 
 
2.       On January 22, 1998, the Company entered into a memorandum of 
         understanding with the National Football League ("NFL") to build and 
         operate NFL entertainment centers in locations nationwide. On September 
         18, 1998 the NFL and the Company announced that they mutually agreed 
         not to proceed with this project further. 
 
3.       On February 24, 1998, the Company completed a transaction with the 
         Codina Group, Inc. ("Codina") and Weeks Corporation by which the 
         Company and Weeks, among other things, each purchased a one-third 
         interest in Codina, a commercial/industrial developer, active 
         principally in southern Florida. The Company intends to develop 
         commercial, industrial and office property, as well as manage Gran 
         Central's existing properties in southern Florida, through its interest 
         in Codina. 
 
4.       On February 24, 1998, the Company acquired a 33% interest in ENTROS, a 
         location-based entertainment company headquartered in Seattle, 
         Washington that creates and produces interactive games in club settings 
         and produces game-based programming for corporate events. 
 
5.       On July 31, 1998, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the 
         assets of Prudential Florida Realty (PFR) from CMT Holdings, Ltd. PFR 
         is the largest real estate brokerage, sales and services company in 
         Florida and the sixth largest in the United States. Under the terms of 
         the acquisition, the Company bought certain business assets of CMT 
         Holdings, Ltd., for a total purchase price of approximately $98 
         million, of which $80 million was paid at closing and $10 million will 
         be deferred over a two year period. Upon completion of an audit of a 
         closing balance sheet of the net assets purchased, the remaining 
         purchase price will be paid within 130 days of closing. There is also 
         the potential for an additional $10 million in purchase price to be 
         paid over three to five years if certain performance targets are met. 
         The acquisition has been accounted for under the purchase method of 
         accounting and the resulting excess of purchase price over net assets 
         acquired is approximately $90 million. 
 
6.       On September 28, 1998, the Company completed the acquisition of Goodman 
         Segar Hogan Hoffler LP, (Goodman Segar GVA) a commercial , retail, 
         office and industrial real estate services company based in Norfolk, 
         Va. Goodman Segar GVA leases and manages approximately 25 million 
         square feet of commercial property in the southeast United States with 
         real estate transactions valued at nearly $1 billion annually. The 
         purchase has been accounted for using purchase accounting and the 
         resulting excess of purchase purchase price over net assets acquired is 
         approximately $16.7 million. 
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7.       On July 6, 1998, the Company, the U.S. Department of the Interior, and 
         The Nature Conservancy jointly announced the completion of a final 
         agreement under which the Company will sell approximately 50,000 acres 
         of sugarcane lands to The Nature Conservancy, and ultimately to the 
         governmental partners involved in Everglades restoration. This sale 
         represents substantially all of the Company's land used for sugar 
         operations. The sales price for the land is approximately $133.5 
         million in cash. Under the agreement, the Company retains the right to 
         farm the land through March 31, 2003. The transaction is subject to the 
         approval of The Nature Conservancy Board of Governors and certain due 
         diligence by the purchasers. 
 
         On November 5, 1998, a lawsuit was initialized in the United States 
         District Court for the District of Columbia by various sugar growers of 
         Florida against Hon. Bruce Babbitt, Secretary of the United States 
         Department of the Interior. The plaintiffs seek to have the contract 
         between the U.S. Department of Interior and the Company set aside and 
         otherwise block the sale of the Company's 50,000 acres. The Company is 
         not a party to the lawsuit; however the Company has retained counsel to 
         review and evaluate the merits of the case. 
 
8.       Long-term debt and credit agreements at September 30, consisted of 
         the following:  
 
 
                                                                               1998             1997 
                                                                          -------------         ---- 
 
                                                                                           
         Revolving credit agreement, interest payable monthly 
          at 1.5% per annum; secured by restricted short-term 
          investments; matures November 15, 1998                          $17.0 million           - 
         Non-interest bearing note payable to CMT Holdings, Ltd. 
          due in equal annual installments beginning July 28, 1999, 
          net of discount of $.8 million computed at 6%                     9.2 million           - 
         Non-interest bearing notes payable to former owners of           
          Goodman Segar GVA. Due in three annual installments beginning 
          September 24, 1999, net of discount of $.4 million                4.5 million           - 
          computed at 6% 
         Various secured and unsecured notes, bearing interest 
          at rates from Prime to 11.25%                                     1.8 million           - 
                                                                          -------------           - 
         Total                                                            $32.5 million           - 
                                                                          =============         ==== 
 
 
 
9.       The Company adopted the provisions of statement of Financial Accounting 
         Standards No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income", effective January 
         1, 1998. This Statement establishes standards for reporting and display 
         of comprehensive income and its components. Comprehensive income for 
         the nine months ended September 30, 1998 and 1997 was $33.3 million 
         and $47.3 million, respectively. This amount differs from net income 
         due to changes in the net unrealized gains on marketable securities 
         available for sale. 
 
10.      The Company and its subsidiaries are involved in litigation on a number 
         of matters and are subject to certain claims which arise in the normal 
         course of business, none of which, in the opinion of management, is 
         expected to have a material adverse effect on the Company's 
         consolidated financial position or results of operations. 
 
11.      The Company has retained certain self-insurance risks with respect to 
         losses for third party liability, property damage and group health 
         insurance provided to employees. 
 
12.      The Company is subject to costs arising out of environmental laws and 
         regulations, which include obligations to remove or limit the effects 
         on the environment of the disposal or release of certain wastes or 
         substances at various sites, including sites which have previously been 
         sold. It is the Company's policy to accrue and charge against earnings 
         environmental cleanup costs when it is probable that a liability has 
         been incurred and an amount is reasonably estimable. As assessments and 
         cleanups proceed, these accruals are reviewed and adjusted, if 
         necessary, as additional information becomes available. 
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         The Company is currently a party to, or involved in, legal proceedings 
         directed at the cleanup of Superfund sites which relate to FEC and to 
         businesses sold in 1996. The Company has accrued an allocated share of 
         the total estimated cleanup costs for these sites. Based upon 
         management's evaluation of other potentially responsible parties, the 
         Company does not expect to incur additional amounts even though the 
         Company has joint and several liability. Other proceedings involving 
         environmental matters such as alleged discharge of oil or waste 
         material into water or soil are pending against the Company. 
 
         It is not possible to quantify future environmental costs because many 
         issues relate to actions by third parties or changes in environmental 
         regulation. However, based on information presently available, 
         management believes that the ultimate disposition of currently known 
         matters will not have a material effect on the financial position, 
         liquidity, or results of operations of the Company. As of September 30, 
         1998 and December 31, 1997, the aggregate environmental related 
         accruals were $7.3 million, respectively. Environmental liabilities are 
         paid over an extended period and the timing of such payments cannot be 
         predicted with any confidence. 
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            MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
                 FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
                                    OVERVIEW 
 
The St. Joe Company is a diversified company engaged in the real estate, 
forestry, resort development, transportation and sugar industries. During the 
first quarter of 1998, the Company also entered into the location-based 
entertainment business. 
 
This Form 10-Q, including "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations" contains certain forward-looking statements 
within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and 
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that are not 
historical facts. Such forward-looking information may include, without 
limitation, statements that the Company does not expect that lawsuits, 
environmental costs, commitments, contingent liabilities, labor negotiations or 
other matters will have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial 
condition, results of operations or liquidity and other similar expressions 
concerning matters that are not historical facts, and projections as to the 
Company's financial results. Such statements are subject to certain risks and 
uncertainties which could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
anticipated in the forward-looking statements. Important factors that could 
cause such differences include but are not limited to contractual relationships, 
industry competition, regulatory developments, natural events such as weather 
conditions, floods and earthquakes, forest fires, the effects of adverse general 
economic conditions, changes in the real estate markets and interest rates, fuel 
prices and the ultimate outcome of environmental investigations or proceedings 
and other types of claims and litigation. 
 
As a result of these and other factors, the Company may experience material 
fluctuations in future operating results on a quarterly or annual basis, which 
could materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition, 
operating results, and stock price. An investment in the Company involves 
various risks, including those mentioned above and elsewhere in this report and 
those which are detailed from time-to-time in the Company's other filings with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission. 
 
Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which 
reflect management's view only as of the date hereof. The Company undertakes no 
obligation to publicly release revisions to these forward-looking statements 
that reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or reflect the 
occurrence of unanticipated events. 
 
 
RECENT EVENTS 
 
The National Football League and the Company announced on September 18, 1998 
that they mutually agreed not to proceed with plans for the joint development, 
construction and operation of NFL entertainment centers. After extensive 
discussions and analysis, the Company and the NFL jointly decided not to pursue 
the project further. 
 
On October 13, 1998 the Company reached an agreement in principle to acquire the 
assets of Prudential Network Realty, a premier real estate services company in 
northeast Florida. The Company plans to integrate the Jacksonville-based company 
into its realty services unit, Prudential Florida Realty. The proposed 
transaction is subject to the execution of a definitive agreement and 
appropriate corporate, franchisor and governmental approvals. 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 
Net sales include real estate property sales, timber sales and sugar sales. Net 
sales were $14.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 1998 an 
increase of $ 3.8 million, or 34.5%, from $11.0 million in 1997. Sales of real 
estate totaled $7.5 million in 1998 as compared to $5.4 million in 1997. 
Forestry sales were $7.0 million, as compared to $5.4 million in 1997 due 
primarily to bulk land and timber sales this 
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quarter. Sugar sales were $.3 million as compared to $.2 million in 1997. The 
Company typically harvests substantially all its sugar during the first and 
fourth quarters of each year. 
 
Operating revenues totaled $93.0 million in the third quarter of 1998, an 
increase of $34.7 million, or 59.5% compared to the third quarter of 1997. 
Included in operating revenues are commercial/industrial rental and services 
revenue, residential real estate services revenue, resort revenue, and 
transportation revenue. Residential real estate services revenues derived since 
July 31, 1998, the date of acquisition of Prudential Florida Realty, made up 
$31.8 million of the increase in operating revenues. Real estate revenues were 
$11.8 million in the third quarter of 1998, as compared to $9.6 million in 1997 
resulting primarily from increased rental rates and new buildings placed in 
service this year. Transportation revenues were $49.4 million in 1998, as 
compared to $48.6 million. Increased trucking related shipments was the primary 
contributor to the increase. 
 
Cost of sales was $3.8 million for the three months ended September 30, 1998, a 
decrease of $1.0 million, or 20.8% compared to $4.8 million in 1998. This 
decrease was due to a decrease in real estate cost of land sales of $.2 million, 
and a decrease in forestry cost of sales of $.8 million. 
 
Operating expenses totaled $53.9 million, an increase of $20.7 million, or 62.3 
% as a result of residential real estate services costs of $20.5 million from 
Prudential Florida Realty, a decrease in transportation operating expenses of 
$.3 million and an increase in real estate rental expenses of $.5 million. 
 
Depreciation and amortization totaled $10.1 million, an increase of $2.2 
million, or 27.8% due to new buildings placed into service this year and 
additional goodwill amortization. 
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses were $22.3 million in the three 
months ended September 30, 1998, an increase of $14.7 million, or 193% over 
1997, attributable to the realty services general and administrative expenses 
from the acquisition of Prudential Florida Realty totaling $8.7 million, a $3.0 
million increase in corporate overhead, a $3.4 million increase in residential 
community development overhead, offset by a $.1 million decrease in forestry 
overhead, a $.2 million decrease in transportation administrative costs and a 
$.1 million decrease in sugar administrative costs. 
 
Other income (expense) decreased $2.5 million, or 24.7% in 1998 compared to 1997 
substantially due to lower interest income. As a result of recent acquisitions, 
and other uses of cash, average balances of invested cash were substantially 
lower this year. 
 
Income tax expense for the third quarter of 1998 totaled $10.6 million, 
representing an effective rate of 41.5%, which is higher than the statutory rate 
because of the 50% excise tax recorded on prepaid pension cost totaling $1.2 
million. Income tax expense in 1997 was $11.4 million, for an effective rate of 
43.8%. 
 
Net income for the third quarter of 1998 was $9.2 million, or $0.10 basic and 
diluted earnings per share, compared to $9.1 million, or $0.10 basic and diluted 
per share in 1997. 
 
NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 
Net sales were $62.4 million for the nine months ended September 30, 1998 a 
decrease of $ 17.2 million, or 21.6%, from $79.6 million in 1997. Sales of real 
estate totaled $8.8 million in 1998 as compared to $30.8 million in 1997 due 
primarily to several property sales by Gran Central Corporation ("GCC") in 1997. 
Forestry sales were $26.6 million as compared to $23.1 million in 1997 due to 
the FCP mill shutdown from April, 1997 until September, 1997. Sugar sales were 
$27.0 million as compared to $25.5 million in 1997. 
 
Operating revenues totaled $217.6 million in 1998, an increase of $45.3 million, 
or 26.3% compared to 1997. Residential real estate services revenues derived 
from Prudential Florida Realty, made up $31.8 million of the increase in 
operating revenues. Transportation operating revenues increased $9.2 million, or 
6.4% in 1998 from $144.0 million in 1997 due to a $5.5 million increase in 
shipments of freight and a $3.7 million increase in fiber optic revenue. Real 
estate operating revenues were $32.4 million, an  
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increase of $4.1 million, or 14.5% in 1998 resulting primarily from increased 
rental rates and new buildings placed in service this year. Resort revenue was 
$.2 million in 1998 as compared to zero in 1997. 
 
Cost of sales was $35.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 1998, a 
decrease of $25.9 million, or 42.0% in 1998 from $61.6 million in 1997. This 
decrease was due to a decrease in real estate cost of land sales of $22.1  
million, a decrease in forestry cost of sales of $6.3 million offset partially  
by an increase in sugar cost of sales of $2.5 million. Operating expenses in  
1998 were $125.3 million, an increase of $26.0 million, or 26.2% as a result  
of residential real estate services costs of $20.5 million from Prudential  
Florida Realty, an increase in transportation operating expenses of $3.6  
million, an increase in real estate operating expenses of $1.6 million and 
resort operating costs of $.3 million. 
 
Depreciation and amortization was $27.6 million, an increase of $5.0 million, or 
22.1% compared to 1997. 
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses were $46.7 million in the nine 
months ended September 30, 1998, an increase of $ 20.3 million, or 76.9% over 
1997, attributable to the realty services general and administrative expenses 
from the acquisition of Prudential Florida Realty totaling $8.7 million, a $6.9 
million increase in corporate overhead, a $5.1 million increase in real estate 
overhead, a $.2 million increase in sugar, offset by a decrease of $.1 million 
in forestry overhead and $.5 million decrease in transportation administrative 
costs. 
 
Other income (expense) decreased $8.7 million, or 26.6% in 1998 compared to 1997 
substantially due to lower interest income. As a result of the two special 
distributions of net proceeds of $336.9 million in 1997 and uses of cash for 
other investment purposes, average balances of invested cash were substantially 
lower this year. 
 
Income tax expense for 1998 totaled $29.5 million, representing an effective 
rate of 43.0%, which is higher than the statutory rate because of the 50% excise 
tax recorded on prepaid pension cost totaling $3.5 million. Income tax expense 
in 1997 was $33.0 million, for an effective rate of 44%. 
 
Net income for the nine months of 1998 was $24.8 million, or $0.27 basic and 
diluted earnings per share, compared to $28.2 million, or $0.31 basic and $0.30 
diluted per share in 1997. 
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REAL ESTATE 
 
 
 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                              Three months ended Sept. 30,   Nine months ended Sept. 30, 
                                                     ($ in millions)               ($ in millions) 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                     %                           %  
                                                  1998    1997    Change       1998     1997   Change 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                
Net sales and operating revenues                 $19.3   $15.2     27.0       $41.3    $59.2   (30.2) 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Cost of sales and operating expense                5.5     5.3      3.7        14.6     35.1   (58.4) 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Selling, general and administrative expenses       4.1      .6    583.3         8.3      3.2   159.4 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Depreciation and amortization                      3.1     2.4     29.2         8.7      6.7    30.0 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Operating profit                                   6.6     6.9     (4.3)        9.7     14.2   (31.7) 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
 
 
THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 
Real estate net sales and operating revenues increased $4.1 million, or 27.0% in 
the third quarter of 1998 compared to the third quarter of 1997. Cost of sales 
and operating expenses increased $.2 million, or 3.7% for the same comparable 
periods. 
 
In the third quarter of 1998, the commercial/industrial division had real 
estate land sales of $5.1 million with cost of sales of $.5 million compared to 
sales of buildings and property totaling $4.9 million with cost of sales 
totaling $1.3 million in the third quarter of 1997. 
 
In the commercial/industrial division, rental revenues increased to $11.6 
million, from $9.7 million in the third quarter of 1997, a 19.6% improvement. 
The increase in rental revenue for the quarter compared to 1997's third quarter 
was comprised of $.7 million, or 7.2% increase, caused by increased rental 
rates, and a $1.2 million, or 13.0%, increase in rental revenue due to new 
buildings placed in service since the second quarter of 1997. Operating expenses 
in the commercial/industrial division increased to $4.2 million in the third 
quarter of 1998 from $3.6 million in 1997, a 16.7% increase, resulting from a 
$.6 million increase in property operating costs. Depreciation expense increased 
$.7 million, or 29.2% as a result of new buildings placed in service since last 
year. Gross margin was $4.3 million or 37.1% in 1998 as compared to $3.7 
million, or 38.1% in 1997 as a result. 
 
Real estate sales and management fees in the community/residential division 
totaled $2.6 million with costs of sales and operating costs of $.8 million in 
1998. Sales this quarter consisted of lot sales in the Camp Creek, Summerwood 
and Woods III developments. Real estate sales in 1997 totaled $.6 million with 
costs of sales and operating expenses of $.4 million. 
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses for the segment increased to $4.1 
million in 1998 compared to $.6 million in 1997 due to pre-development and 
start-up costs incurred during the quarter in the residential division and 
increased costs of asset management in the commercial/industrial division. 
 
NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 
Real estate net sales and operating revenue decreased $17.9 million, or 30.2% in 
the first nine months of 1998 compared to 1997. Cost of sales and operating 
expenses decreased $20.5 million, or 58.4% in 1998 compared to 1997. 
 
In 1998, the commercial/industrial division had land and building sales and 
miscellaneous real estate income of $5.4 million with $.6 million of related 
costs compared to land and building sales and miscellaneous real estate revenue 
in 1997 of $26.7 million with cost of sales of $22.4 million. 
 
In the commercial/industrial division, rental revenues increased to $32.0 
million, from $28.2 million in 1997, or 13.5%. The increase in rental revenue 
this year can be attributed to a $3.6 million, or 12.7% increase from increases 
in rental rates and a $1.8 million, or 6.4% increase in rental revenue due to 
new buildings placed in service since the third quarter of 1997. Partially 
offsetting these increases was $.6 million, or 2.1% decrease in revenues 
attributable to reductions in rent recoverables from tenants and a  
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decrease of $1.0 million, or 3.5% reduction in miscellaneous land leases such 
as parking lots and signboard leases. Operating expenses in the 
commercial/industrial division increased to $12.2 million in 1998, from $10.7 
million in 1997, or 14.0% due to a $1.5 million increase in property operating 
costs. Depreciation expense increased to $8.7 million up $2.0 million compared 
to 1997 due to new buildings placed into service. Gross margin was $11.1 
million, or 34.7% in 1998 compared to $10.8 million or 38.3% in 1997 as a 
result. 
 
During the nine months ended September 30, 1998 two office/showroom/warehouse 
buildings totaling 195,075 square feet were placed into service and two office 
buildings totaling 280,903 square feet were also placed into service. These 
additions bring total square feet available for lease to 6,040,094 square feet. 
There are also eleven buildings under construction or in pre-development stages, 
which will add an additional 1.7 million square feet of office space. One of 
these, totaling 134,000 square feet is expected to be completed in 1998, and the 
remaining ten, of which three are in north Florida, three are in central 
Florida, two are in south Florida, one is in Georgia and one is in Texas, are to 
be completed in 1999. 
 
In the community/residential division, the Company recorded real estate sales 
and management fees of $3.9 million and operating costs of $1.8 million. In 1997 
the community/residential division recorded real estate sales of $4.3 million 
and costs of $2.0 million. Depreciation expense was $.1 million for both 1998 
and 1997. During the first nine months of 1998, the Company had 26 lot sales in 
its Summerwood development, three lot sales in Woods III, four lots in Camp 
Creek and two lots in Deerwood, all developments in West Florida. 
 
Selling, general and administrative costs are up $5.1 million, or 159% for the 
first nine months of 1998 compared to the first six months of 1997 due to 
start-up costs and additional salaries and benefits in 1998, primarily related 
to the activity beginning in the Company's West Florida residential real estate 
and increased assets management costs in the commercial/industrial division. 
 
RESIDENTIAL REAL ESTATE SERVICES 
 
 
 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                Three months ended Sept. 30,  Nine months ended Sept. 30, 
                                                        ($ in millions)              ($ in millions) 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                          %                           % 
                                                   1998        1997    Change    1998      1997    Change 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                     
Net sales and operating revenues                   $31.8         -         -    $31.8         -        - 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Cost of sales and operating expense                 20.5         -         -     20.5         -        - 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Selling, general and administrative expenses         8.7         -         -      8.7         -        - 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Depreciation and amortization                        1.0         -         -      1.0         -        - 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Operating profit                                     1.6         -         -      1.6         -        - 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
On July 31, 1998, the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of the assets of 
Prudential Florida Realty (PFR), the largest real estate brokerage, sales and 
services company in Florida and the fifth largest in the United States from CMT 
Holdings, Ltd. PFR provides complete real estate brokerage services, including, 
asset management, rentals, property management, property inspection, mortgage, 
relocation and title services. In an effort to capitalize on the high quality 
associated with the Arvida name in master-planned community developments, in 
early 1999, this operation's name will be changed to Arvida Realty Services. 
Costs to be incurred in connection with the integration and conversion process 
are expected to approximate $3.0 million. 
 
Realty brokerage net sales and operating revenues of $31.8 million since August 
1, 1998 are attributable to 5,345 closed real estate transaction sales, 
representing $900 million of sales volume, 1,702 title policies issued and $53.0 
million of mortgage loans originated. Operating expenses of $20.5 million are 
attributable to commissions paid on real estate transactions and underwriting 
fees on title policies. 
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FORESTRY 
 
 
 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                Three months ended Sept. 30,   Nine months ended Sept. 30, 
                                                      ($ in millions)               ($ in millions) 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                        %                              %  
                                                   1998      1997    Change     1998       1997     Change 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                   
Net sales                                          $7.0       5.4     29.6     $26.6      $23.1     15.1 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Cost of sales                                       2.9       3.7    (21.6)     13.5       19.8    (31.8) 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Selling, general and administrative expenses         .4        .5    (20.0)      1.6        1.7     (5.9) 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Depreciation and amortization                        .3        .2     50.0       1.3         .5    160.0 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Operating profit                                    3.4       1.0    240.0      10.2        1.1    827.3 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30  
Total net sales increased $1.6 million, or 29.6% in the third quarter of 1998 
compared to the third quarter of 1997. Bulk land and timber sales were $2.1 
million during the 1998 quarter. Total sales to FCP for the quarter were $2.7 
million (90,237 tons). Since August of 1998 the FCP mill has been shutdown, and 
there is no indication when it will reopen. Under the terms and conditions of 
the amended fiber supply agreement with FCP, FCP will begin redirecting the 
volumes of pulpwood from its mill in Port St. Joe to another mill, thus sales 
of pulpwood to FCP will resume in the latter part of this year. 
 
Last years sales to FCP were $1.4 million (53,429 tons) since the mill was 
shutdown from April, 1997 until September, 1997. Sales to other customers 
totaled $2.2 million (105,624 tons) in the third quarter of 1998 as compared to 
$3.9 million (161,865 tons) due to a slowdown in paper markets. 
 
Cost of sales for the quarter decreased $.8 million, or 21.6% compared to 1997 
due to less wood sold with cut and haul expenses. Cost of sales as a percentage 
of sales was 41.4% in 1998 as compared to 68.5% in 1997. Excluding the bulk land 
and timber sales, which had substantially no associated costs, cost of sales as 
a percentage of sales was 59.2% , lower than 1997 comparable third quarter due 
to more sales of Company wood with no cut and haul charges. There was no 
procured wood sold in the third quarter of 1998. 
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses were $.1 million lower than in 1997 
due to a nonrecurring insurance expense in 1997 related to terminated employees 
benefits. 
 
NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 
Total net sales increased $3.5 million, or 15.1% in 1998 compared to 1997. The 
majority of this increase is due to the third quarter bulk land and timber 
sales totaling $2.1 million previously discussed. Sales to FCP made up $15.4 
million (533,819 tons) of total sales in 1998, and sales to other customers 
totaled $9.1 million (365,225 tons). This compares to sales in 1997 to FCP of 
$14.2 million (479,133 tons) and sales to other customers totaling $8.9 million 
(335,126 tons). Sales to other customers were higher this year than 1997 as the 
Company experienced more lump sum bid timber sales due to increased demand in 
the first quarter of this year. Sales prices of timber sold to FCP were lower 
this year at an average price of $29/ton compared to $30/ton in 1997. Sales 
prices of timber sold to other customers were also lower this year at an 
average of $25/ton compared to $27/ton last year. 
 
Cost of sales decreased $6.3 million, or 31.8% in 1998 compared to 1997. Cost 
of sales as a percentage of sales was 50.8% in 1998 as compared to 85.7% in 
1997 due primarily to less timber purchased from outside sources. The Company 
procured approximately 13,700 tons of wood this year to fulfill the 
requirements of its timber supply agreement with FCP compared to 180,477 tons 
last year. The cost of sales of procured wood were approximately $30/ton in 
1998 and in 1997. Cost of sales of timber grown on Company land and sold to FCP 
decreased by $2/ton to approximately $21/ton due to a change in product mix of 
less chips and more pulpwood. The cost of sales for timber sold to other 
customers also decreased this year due to 
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sales of bid timber, which do not require cutting and hauling. Cost of sales on 
sales to other customers was $10/ton, which was approximately $8/ton less than 
last year. 
 
General and administrative expenses were $.1 million lower in 1998 as compared 
to 1997. General and administrative costs in 1997 included $0.5 million of 
severance payments made to terminated employees. Included in 1998 is a 
nonrecurring payment of $0.4 million for settlement of property tax litigation 
which occurred in the first quarter. Depreciation expense was $.8 million higher 
this year due to a higher percentage of depletion taken this year. 
 
TRANSPORTATION 
 
 
 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                    Three months ended Sept. 30,      Nine months ended Sept. 30, 
                                                          ($ in millions)                   ($ in millions) 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                             %                              % 
                                                     1998       1997       Change    1998      1997       Change 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                         
Operating revenues                                   $49.4      $48.6       1.6     $153.2     $144.0       6.4 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Operating expense                                     29.0       29.3      (1.0)      91.5       87.9       4.1 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Selling, general and administrative expenses           5.2        5.4      (3.7)      16.2       16.7      (3.0) 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Depreciation and amortization                          4.7        4.8      (2.0)      13.9       14.0      (0.7) 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Operating profit                                      10.5        9.1      15.4       31.6       25.4      24.4 
- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 
Total Florida East Coast Railway ("FEC") transportation operating revenues were 
$47.1 million for the third quarter of 1998, an increase of $.8 million, or 1.7% 
compared to the third quarter of 1997. The increase in revenues was derived from 
increases in trucking shipments totaling $1.2 million offset by a decrease in 
rail revenues of $.4 million caused by a decrease in rail shipments. Decreases 
were evident in the intermodal and other carload traffic, with increases in 
automotive shipments and aggregates shipments. Apalachicola Northern Railroad 
Company ("ANRR") operating revenues for the third quarter of 1998 were $2.3 
million, which was flat compared to last year's third quarter. 
 
FEC's operating expenses were $27.5 million, a decrease of $.2 million. ANRR's 
operating costs were $1.5 million in the third quarter of 1998, substantially 
the same as 1997. 
 
 
NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30 
Total FEC transportation operating revenues were $145.2 million, an increase of 
$8.7 million for the nine months ended September 30, 1998, or 6.4% compared to 
1997. The increase in rail related revenue accounted for $1.9 million of the 
increase and trucking related revenues generated a $3.1 million increase. 
Attributing to the increased rail related revenues was a 22.5% increase in 
automotive shipments and an 8.0% increase in aggregates shipments. Overall, the 
number of rail shipments showed a less than 1% decrease compared to prior years. 
Also included in 1998 operating revenue is an increase in fiber optic income of 
$3.7 million. During the second quarter of 1998, FEC recognized $3.0 million of 
income in connection with a nonmonetary exchange transaction negotiated with 
Williams Network whereby FEC received the right to control 36 fiber optic 
communications fibers along FEC's right-of-way, in exchange for the surrender of 
certain future operating lease payments. ANRR operating revenues for 1998 were 
$8.0 million, an increase of $.5 million, or 6.7% compared to 1997 due to an 
increase in shipments from FCP compared to 1997 when the mill was shutdown. As 
previously discussed, the FCP mill recently shutdown again in August of this 
year. If the FCP mill continues to remain closed ANRR's revenues, operating 
profit and net income will be negatively impacted. 
 
Operating expenses for FEC in 1998 were $86.2 million, $3.3 million, or 4.0% 
higher than 1997. Rail related costs increased $.7 million whereas trucking 
related costs increased $2.6 million. Operating costs as a percentage of 
revenues decreased from 60.7% to 59.4% primarily due to lower fuel costs this 
year. ANRR's operating costs were $5.3 million in 1998, $.3 million higher than 
1997 consistent with the increased revenue. 
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Selling, general and administrative expenses were $16.2 million, or 3.0% lower 
than last year. The prior year amounts included a $2.9 million non-recurring 
charge for costs incurred in connection with a potential disposition of certain 
subsidiaries of FEC. The current year expenses include severance and bonuses 
paid totaling $1.1 million and other increased overhead costs. 
 
 
SUGAR 
 
 
 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                  Three months ended Sept. 30,     Nine months ended Sept. 30, 
                                                         ($ in millions)                ($ in millions) 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                        %                                % 
                                                     1998     1997    Change       1998       1997     Change 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                                      
Net sales                                             $.3      $.2     50.0        $27.0      $25.5     5.9 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Cost of sales                                         (.3)     (.3)       -         20.7       18.2    13.7 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Selling, general and administrative expenses          1.0      1.1     (9.1)         3.7        3.5     5.7 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Depreciation and amortization                          .4       .4        -          1.1        1.1       - 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Operating profit                                      (.8)     (.9)    11.1          1.5        2.7   (44.4) 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
 
THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 
There were no sugar shipments in the third quarter of 1998 or 1997 as the 
harvesting period ended last quarter. Harvesting and sales will resume in the 
fourth quarter. Sales recognized this quarter were the result of pricing 
adjustments on previously sold sugar. 
 
NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, Net sales increased $1.5 million, or 5.9% for 
the nine months ended September 30, 1998 compared to the nine months ended 
September 30, 1997 due to 4.6% volume increase (2,755 tons) in sugar harvested 
and sold and a slight increase (1%) in sales price. Sales price per ton was 
slightly higher than last years at $437 per ton compared to $434 per ton in 
1997. 
 
Cost of sugar sales as a percentage of sales increased in 1998 to 76.7 % 
compared to 71.4% in 1997. Frequent interruptions of harvesting and milling 
operations caused by unseasonably rainy weather prevented the realization of any 
efficiency from the increased volumes experienced, and resulted in a $27/ton 
higher cost. 
 
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $.2 million or 5.7% as a 
result of an increase in the everglades environmental tax rate this year. 
 
As previously discussed, the Company has contracted to sell substantially all of 
its lands used for harvesting sugar. The Company does retain the right to 
harvest sugar once the land is sold until the year 2003. 
 
CORPORATE AND OTHER 
 
Corporate selling, general and administrative expenses not allocated to segments 
totaled $2.9 million for the third quarter of 1998, an increase of $3.0 million, 
compared to the third quarter of 1997 due to increases in salaries and benefits 
and professional fees. Corporate selling, general and administrative expenses 
totaled $8.2 million for the first nine months of 1998, an increase of $6.9 
million over 1997 substantially due to the increases in salaries and benefits 
and professional fees and $1.0 million additional goodwill amortization. 
Selling, general, and administrative expenses were also up this year because of 
a $1.4 million reduction in pension income. 
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FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
In August of this year, the Company's Board of Directors authorized $150 million 
for the repurchase of the Company's outstanding common stock from time to time 
on the open market. The Board believes that the current price of the Company's 
common shares does not reflect the value of the Company's assets or its future 
prospects. As of September 30, 1998 the Company had repurchased 1,743,990 shares 
of its common stock for $36.1 million. 
 
Total cash and cash equivalents decreased $73.2 million during 1998 from $158.6 
million at December 31, 1997 to $85.4 million at September 30, 1998 as a result 
of acquisitions and increases in investments in joint ventures totaling $98.0 
million as well as capital expenditures totaling $84.9 million. The Company's 
investments in marketable securities were also utilized for the funding of 
acquisitions. 
 
Capital expenditures for the nine months of 1998 totaled $84.9 million, of which 
$44.2 million related to real estate construction and land purchases. 
 
Stockholder's equity at September 30, 1998 was $10.00 per share, compared to 
$9.89 per share at December 31, 1997 due to additional earnings this year, 
additional unrealized investment gains and lower stock outstanding due to the 
repurchase of treasury shares. 
 
YEAR 2000 COMPLIANCE 
 
The Company has created a Year 2000 Project Team to address potential problems 
within the Company's operations which could result from the century change in 
the Year 2000. The project team is led by the Vice President of Finance and 
consists of representatives of the Company's Information Systems Departments or 
financial departments for each subsidiary, and has access to key associates in 
all areas of the Company's operations. The project team has used and continues 
to use outside consultants on an as-needed basis. 
 
A four-phase approach has been utilized to address the Year 2000 issues: an 
inventory phase to identify all computer-based systems and applications 
(including embedded systems) which might not be Year 2000 compliant; an 
assessment phase to determine what revisions or replacements would be necessary 
to achieve compliance and what priorities would best serve the Company; a 
conversion phase to implement the actions necessary to achieve compliance and to 
conduct the tests necessary to verify that the systems are operational; and an 
implementation phase to transition the compliant systems into the everyday 
operations of the Company. Excluding the Company's FEC subsidiary, management 
believes that the four phases are approximately 70%, 40%, 20% and 5% complete, 
respectively and that all critical systems will be compliant by the end of 1999. 
 
The Company is in the process of assessing total costs to address and modify 
Year 2000 problems, however, it is management's belief that the costs will not 
be material to the Company's financial position. Approximately $83,000 has been 
spent by the Company through September 30, 1998. 
 
As a part of the Year 2000 review, the Company is examining its relationships 
with certain key outside vendors and others with whom it has significant 
business relationships to determine to the extent practical the degree of such 
parties' Year 2000 compliance. The Company has received or is seeking assurance 
from several third party vendors that they are or will be Year 2000 compliant. 
Management believes that the failure of any other third party vendors will not 
have a material adverse effect on the Company. 
 
Should the Company or a third party with whom the Company deals have a systems 
failure due to the century change, the Company believes that the most 
significant impact would likely be the inability to timely process its payments 
for services and receipts of revenues. The Company does not expect any such 
impact to be material. 
 
The management of FEC has advised the Company regarding FEC's Year 2000 
compliance as follows: 
         `[FEC] has created a program management office to direct the project's 
         effort in achieving year 2000 compliance. A Year 2000 Compliance 
         Steering Committee has been established that is sponsored by the CEO 
         and comprised of senior management as active participants in the 
         project.  
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         The project contains four phases to address the Year 2000 issues: (1) 
         an inventory phase to identify all computer-based systems and 
         applications which might not be year 2000 compliant; (2) an assessment 
         phase to determine what revisions or replacements would be needed to 
         achieve compliance, and the priority of each correction in assuring 
         that business strategies and goals are met; (3) a conversion phase to 
         implement the actions necessary to achieve compliance, and to conduct 
         tests necessary to verify that the systems are operational; and (4) an 
         implementation phase to transition the compliant systems into the 
         everyday operations of [FEC]. Management believes that the four phases 
         are approximately 70%, 50%, 20% and 10%, respectively complete, and 
         that all critical systems will be compliant with the century change by 
         third quarter 1999. [FEC] has budgeted approximately $250,000 to 
         address the Year 2000 remediation issues, which includes the estimated 
         costs of modifications and consultant fees addressing these issues. 
         Approximately $63,000 of this amount has been expended through 
         September 1998. By the third quarter 1999, the major business 
         applications will have been replaced with new compliant versions at a 
         cost of approximately $4.4 million, which is not part of the 
         remediation budget. As part of the Year 2000 review, [FEC] is examining 
         vendor and customer relationships to determine, to the extent 
         practical, the degree of such parties' year 2000 compliance, and to 
         develop strategies for working with such parties through the system 
         changes. Should the Company [FEC] have problems with outside parties, 
         the area most likely to be affected centers around shipments received 
         from and /or forwarded to connecting rail carriers. Contingency plans 
         are being developed to address this possibility.' 
 
 
 
PART II - OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Item 6. Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K 
 
(a)      Exhibits 
 
         2.01     Purchase Agreement by and among Dominion Capital, Inc., 
                  Goodman-Segar-Hogan, Inc., HK Associates, L.P. 
                  Goodman-Segar-Hogan-Hoffler, Inc, Goodman-Segar-Hogan Hoffler, 
                  L.P. and St. Joe Commercial Property Services, Inc dated 
                  September 24, 1998 
 
         27.01    Financial Data Schedule (for SEC use only) 
 
         27.02    Restated Financial Data Schedule (for SEC use only) 
 
         99.01    Supplemental Calculation of Selected Consolidated Financial 
                  Data 
 
(b)      Reports on Form 8-K 
 
         A Form 8-K Item 5. "Other Events" was filed on September 22, 1998 
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                                   SIGNATURES 
 
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the 
registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 
 
 
                                               The St. Joe Company 
 
 
 
Date: November 12, 1998                        \Peter S. Rummell\ 
      ---------------------                    --------------------------------- 
                                               Peter S. Rummell 
                                               Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
Date: November 12, 1998                        \Michael N. Regan\ 
      ---------------------                    --------------------------------- 
                                               Michael N. Regan 
                                               Vice President Budget and Finance 
                                               (Principal Financial Officer) 
                                               (Principal Accounting Officer) 
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                                                       EXHIBIT 2.01 
 
 
                               PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 
                                  by and among 
 
                             DOMINION CAPITAL, INC. 
 
                            GOODMAN-SEGAR-HOGAN, INC. 
 
                               HK ASSOCIATES, L.P. 
 
                        GOODMAN-SEGAR-HOGAN-HOFFLER, INC. 
 
                        GOODMAN-SEGAR-HOGAN-HOFFLER, L.P. 
 
 
                                       and 
 
 
                   ST. JOE COMMERCIAL PROPERTY SERVICES, INC. 
 
 
 
 
                            DATED: September 24, 1998 
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                               PURCHASE AGREEMENT 
 
 
         THIS PURCHASE AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made as of September 24, 
1998, by and among DOMINION CAPITAL, INC., a Virginia corporation ("Dominion"), 
GOODMAN-SEGAR-HOGAN, INC., a Virginia corporation ("GSH, Inc."), HK ASSOCIATES, 
L.P., a Virginia limited partnership ("HK, L.P."), GOODMAN-SEGAR-HOGAN-HOFFLER, 
INC., a Virginia corporation ("GSHH, Inc." or the "General Partner"), 
GOODMAN-SEGAR-HOGAN-HOFFLER, L.P., a Virginia limited partnership (the 
"Partnership"), and ST. JOE COMMERCIAL PROPERTY SERVICES, INC., a Florida 
corporation ("St. Joe"). Dominion, GSH, Inc., and HK, L.P. are sometimes 
referred to hereinafter as, collectively, the "Control Group." 
 
         WHEREAS, the Partnership is a partnership organized and existing under 
the laws of the State of Virginia in the business of providing commercial and 
industrial development, management, construction, consulting, and leasing 
services for real properties located primarily in Virginia, North Carolina and 
Georgia (the "Southeast"); 
 
         WHEREAS, the Control Group collectively owns controlling equity 
interests in both the Partnership and GSHH, Inc., its General Partner, as more 
particularly set forth on the attached Exhibit A, which lists all of the 
partners of the Partnership and all of the shareholders of the General Partner 
and their respective ownership interests; 
 
         WHEREAS, the Partnership and its General Partner, own directly or 
indirectly all or a controlling interest of the issued and outstanding shares of 
stock, membership or partnership interests of certain operating companies that 
perform development, management, construction, and leasing services (as more 
particularly set forth on the attached Exhibit B, such companies are sometimes 
referred to hereinafter collectively as the "Subsidiaries" and individually as 
"Subsidiary"); 
 
         WHEREAS, St. Joe is a corporation organized and existing under the laws 
of the State of Florida that is interested in providing commercial and 
industrial development, management, construction, consulting, and leasing 
services for real properties located in the Southeast; 
 
         WHEREAS, the Control Group and St. Joe desire that St. Joe purchase all 
of the limited partnership interests in the Partnership (the "LP Interests") and 
all of the issued and outstanding shares of the common stock of the General 
Partner (the "Shares"); and 
 
         WHEREAS, the Control Group, the Partnership, the General Partner, and 
St. Joe wish to provide for certain undertakings, conditions, representations, 
warranties and covenants in connection with the transaction contemplated hereby. 
 
         NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and of the respective 
covenants, representations, warranties and agreements herein contained, the 
parties hereto agree as follows: 
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                            ARTICLE I. - DEFINITIONS 
 
         For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings 
specified or referred to in this Article I: 
 
         "Applicable Contract" means any Contract (a) under which any of the 
Companies has or may acquire any rights, (b) under which any of the Companies 
has or may become subject to any obligation or liability, or (c) by which any of 
the Companies or any of the assets owned or used by any of them is or may become 
bound. 
 
         "Armada/Hoffler Guaranty Agreement" has the meaning as defined in 
Section 8.1 
 
         "Balance Sheet" has the meaning as defined in Section 3.6. 
 
         "Benefit Plan" has the meaning as defined in Section 3.25. 
 
         "Best Efforts" means the efforts that a prudent Person desirous of 
achieving a result would use in similar circumstances to ensure that such result 
is achieved as expeditiously as possible. 
 
         "Breach" means a Breach of a representation, warranty, covenant, 
obligation or other provision of this Agreement or any instrument delivered 
pursuant to this Agreement which will be deemed to have occurred if there is or 
has been (a) any inaccuracy in or breach of, or any failure to perform or comply 
with such representation, warranty, covenant, obligation or other provision, or 
(b) any claim (by any Person other than St. Joe) or other occurrence or 
circumstance that is or was inconsistent with such representation, warranty, 
covenant, obligation or other provision, or (c) any valid claim by St. Joe or 
other occurrence or circumstance that is or was inconsistent with such 
representation, warranty, covenant, obligation or other provision. 
 
         "Budget" has the meaning as defined in Section 3.6. 
 
         "Closing" and "Closing Date" have the meaning as defined in Section 
2.3. 
 
         "Closing Financial Statements" has the meaning as defined in Section 
2.6. 
 
         "Companies" means, collectively, the Partnership, the General Partner, 
and the Subsidiaries. 
 
         "Consent" means any approval, consent, ratification, waiver or other 
authorization (including any Governmental Authorization). 
 
         "Construction Agreements" means any Applicable Contract under which any 
of the Companies is responsible, in whole or in part, for construction, 
rehabilitation or remodeling in connection with real estate projects. 
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         "Contemplated Transactions" means all of the transactions contemplated 
by this Agreement, including: 
 
                  (a) the sale of the LP Interests and the Shares by Sellers to 
         St. Joe for the Purchase Price; 
 
                  (b) the execution, delivery and performance of the Related 
         Agreements; and 
 
                  (c) the performance by the parties of their respective 
         covenants and obligations under this Agreement. 
 
         "Contract" means any agreement, contract, obligation, promise or 
undertaking (whether written or oral and whether express or implied) that is 
legally binding. 
 
         "Control Interests" means the LP Interests collectively owned by the 
Control Group. 
 
         "Control Shares" means the Shares collectively owned by the Control 
Group. 
 
         "Damages" has the meaning as defined in Section 9.2. 
 
         "Deferred Payment Obligations" means the obligations of St. Joe to make 
deferred payments to the Sellers with respect to certain percentages of the 
Purchase Price on the first, second, and third anniversaries of the Closing 
Date, as set forth in Section 2.2. 
 
         "Dominion Group Support Agreement" has the meaning as defined in 
Section 8.1. 
 
         "Encumbrance" means any charge, claim, community property interest, 
condition, equitable interest, lien, option, pledge, security interest, right of 
first refusal or restriction of any kind, including any restriction on use, 
voting, transfer, receipt of income or exercise of any other attribute of 
ownership. 
 
         "Environment" means soil, land surface or subsurface strata, surface 
waters (including navigable waters, ocean waters, streams, ponds, drainage 
basins and wetlands) groundwater, drinking water supply, stream sediments, 
ambient air (including indoor air) plant and animal life and any other 
environmental medium or natural resource. 
 
         "Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities" means any cost, damages, 
expense, liability, obligation or other responsibility arising from or under 
Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and Health Law and consisting of or 
relating to: 
 
                  (a) any environmental, health or safety matters or conditions 
(including on-site or off-site contamination, occupational safety and health and 
regulation of chemical substances or products); 
 
                  (b) fines, penalties, judgments, awards, settlements, legal or 
administrative proceedings, damages, losses, claims, demands and response, 
investigative, remedial or 
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inspection costs and expenses arising under Environmental Law or Occupational 
Safety and Health Law; 
 
                  (c) financial responsibility under Environmental Law or 
Occupational Safety and Health Law for cleanup costs or corrective action, 
including any investigation, cleanup, removal, containment or other remediation 
or response actions ("Cleanup") required by applicable Environmental Law or 
Occupational Safety and Health Law (whether or not such Cleanup has been 
required or requested by any Governmental Body or any other Person) and for any 
natural resource damages; or 
 
                  (d) any other compliance, corrective, investigative or 
remedial measures required under Environmental Law or Occupational Safety and 
Health Law. 
 
         The terms "removal", "remedial" and "response action" include the types 
of activities covered by the United States Comprehensive Environmental Response, 
Compensation and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. ss. 9601 et seq., as amended 
("CERCLA"). 
 
         "Environmental Law" means any Legal Requirement that requires or 
relates to: 
 
                  (a) advising appropriate authorities, employees and the public 
of intended or actual releases of pollutants or hazardous substances or 
materials, violations of discharge limits or other prohibitions and of the 
commencements of activities, such as resource extraction or construction, that 
could have significant impact on the Environment; 
 
                  (b) preventing or reducing to acceptable levels the release of 
pollutants or hazardous substances or materials into the Environment; 
 
                  (c) reducing the quantities, preventing the release or 
minimizing the hazardous characteristics of wastes that are generated; 
 
                  (d) assuring that products are designed, formulated, packaged 
and used so that they do not present unreasonable risks to human health or the 
Environment when used or disposed of; 
 
                  (e) protecting resources, species or ecological amenities; 
 
                  (f) reducing to acceptable levels the risks inherent in the 
transportation of hazardous substances, pollutants, oil or other potentially 
harmful substances; 
 
                  (g) cleaning up pollutants that have been released, preventing 
the threat of release or paying the costs of such clean up or prevention; or 
 
                  (h) making responsible parties pay private parties, or groups 
of them, for damages done to their health or the Environment or permitting 
self-appointed representatives of the public interest to recover for injuries 
done to public assets. 
 
                                      -7- 



   8 
 
         "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 or 
any successor law, and regulations and rules issued pursuant to that Act or any 
successor law. 
 
         "Estoppel Certificates" has the meaning as defined in Section 2.4. 
 
         "Facilities" means any real property, leaseholds or other interests 
currently or formerly owned by any of the Companies and any buildings, plants, 
or structures currently or formerly owned by any of the Companies. 
 
         "Financial Statements" has the meaning as defined in Section 3.6. 
 
         "GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in effect in the 
United States from time to time, applied on a basis consistent with the basis on 
which the Balance Sheet and the other Financial Statements were prepared. 
 
         "Governmental Authorization" means any approval, consent, license, 
permit, waiver or other authorization issued, granted, given or otherwise made 
available by or under the authority of any Governmental Body or pursuant to any 
Legal Requirement. 
 
         "Governmental Body" means any: 
 
                  (a) federal, state, regional, county, city, town, village, 
district or other jurisdiction of any nature; 
 
                  (b) federal, state, local, municipal, foreign or other 
government; 
 
                  (c) governmental or quasi-governmental authority of any nature 
(including any governmental agency, branch, department, official or entity and 
any court or other tribunal); 
 
                  (d) multi-national organization or body; or 
 
                  (e) body exercising or entitled to exercise any 
administrative, executive, judicial, legislative, police, regulatory or taxing 
authority or power of any nature. 
 
         "Hazardous Activity" means the distribution, generation, handling, 
importing, management, manufacturing, processing, production, refinement, 
release, storage, transfer, transportation, treatment or use (including any 
withdrawal or other use of groundwater) of Hazardous Materials in, on, under, 
about or from the Facilities or any part thereof into the Environment, and any 
other act, business, operation or thing that increases the danger, or risk of 
danger, or poses an unreasonable risk of harm to persons or property on or off 
the Facilities, or that may affect the value of the Facilities or the 
Partnership or any of the Subsidiaries. 
 
         "Hazardous Materials" means any waste or other substance that is 
listed, defined, designated or classified as, or otherwise determined to be, 
hazardous, radioactive or toxic or a pollutant or a contaminant under or 
pursuant to any Environmental Law, including any 
 
                                      -8- 



   9 
 
admixture or solution thereof and specifically including petroleum and all 
derivatives thereof or synthetic substitutes therefor and asbestos or 
asbestos-containing materials. 
 
         "HSR Act" means the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 
1976 or any successor law, and regulations and rules issued pursuant to that Act 
or any successor law. 
 
         "Indemnification Claim" has the meaning as defined in Section 9.4. 
 
         "Indemnified Party" has the meaning as defined in Section 9.1. 
 
         "IRC" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 or any successor law and 
regulations issued by the IRS pursuant to the Internal Revenue Code or any 
successor law. 
 
         "IRS" means the United States Internal Revenue Service or any successor 
agency and, to the extent relevant, the United States Department of the 
Treasury. 
 
         "Knowledge": An individual will be deemed to have "Knowledge" of a 
particular fact or other matter if: 
 
                  (a) such individual is actually aware of such fact or other 
matter; or 
 
                  (b) a prudent individual could be expected to discover or 
otherwise become aware of such fact or other matter in the course of conducting 
a reasonably comprehensive investigation concerning the existence of such fact 
or other matter. 
 
A Person (other than an individual) will be deemed to have "Knowledge" of a 
particular fact or other matter if any individual who is serving, or who has at 
any time served, as a director, officer, partner, executor or trustee of such 
Person (or in any similar capacity) has, or at any time had, Knowledge of such 
fact or other matter. 
 
         "Leasing Agreement" means any Applicable Contract under which the any 
of the Companies has a right to list and/or lease certain commercial and 
industrial space. 
 
         "Legal Requirement" means any federal, state, local, municipal, or 
other administrative order, constitution, law, ordinance, principle of common 
law, regulation statute or treaty. 
 
         "LP Interests" means the outstanding limited partnership interests in 
the Partnership. 
 
         "Management Agreement" means any Applicable Contract under which any of 
the Companies is responsible for the management of the operations of real 
property. 
 
         "Material" means any circumstance or state of facts which results in or 
would reasonably be expected to result in, any material limitation or 
restriction on the ability of the Companies to conduct their respective 
businesses. 
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         "Minority Interests" means the LP Interests collectively owned by all 
of the Minority Partners. 
 
         "Minority Partner" means each of the limited partners of the 
Partnership who are not defined herein as the Control Group. 
 
         "Minority Seller Agreements" has the meaning as defined in Section 8.1. 
 
         "Minority Shareholder" means each of the shareholders of the General 
Partner who are not defined herein as the Control Group. 
 
         "Minority Shares" means the Shares collectively owned by all of the 
Minority Shareholders. 
 
         "Occupational Safety and Health Law" means any Legal Requirement 
designed to provide safe and healthful working conditions and to reduce 
occupational safety and health hazards, and any program, whether governmental or 
private (including those promulgated or sponsored by industry associations and 
insurance companies) designated to provide safe and healthful working 
conditions. 
 
         "Order" means any award, decision, injunction, judgment, order, ruling, 
subpoena or verdict entered, issued, made or rendered by any court, 
administrative agency or other Governmental Body or by any arbitrator. 
 
         "Ordinary Course of Business" means only if an action taken by a Person 
is: 
 
                  (a) consistent with the past practices of such Person and is 
taken in the ordinary course of the normal day-to-day operations of such Person; 
and 
 
                  (b) similar in nature and magnitude to actions customarily 
taken in the ordinary course of the normal day-to-day operations of other 
Persons that are in the same line of business as such Person. 
 
         "Organizational Documents" means (a) the articles or certificate of 
incorporation and the bylaws of a corporation, (b) the partnership agreement and 
any statement of partnership of a general partnership, (c) the limited 
partnership agreement and the certificate of limited partnership of a limited 
partnership, (d) the articles of organization and operating agreement of a 
limited liability company, (e) any charter or similar document adopted or filed 
in connection with the creation, formation or organization of a Person, and (f) 
any amendment to any of the foregoing. 
 
         "Partnership" has the meaning as defined in the recitals of the 
Agreement. 
 
         "Person" means any individual, corporation (including any non-profit 
corporation), general or limited partnership, limited liability company, joint 
venture, estate, trust, association, organization, labor union or other entity 
or Governmental Body. 
 
 
 
                                      -10- 



   11 
         "Proceeding" means any action, arbitration, audit, hearing, 
investigation, litigation or suit (whether civil, criminal, administrative, 
investigative or informal) commenced, brought, conducted or heard by or before, 
or otherwise involving, any Governmental Body or arbitrator. 
 
         "Promissory Notes" means the notes substantially in the form of the 
note attached hereto as Exhibit C, evidencing the Deferred Payment Obligations. 
 
         "Proprietary Rights Agreement" has the meaning as defined in Section 
3.25. 
 
         "Purchase Price" has the meaning as defined in Section 2.2. 
 
         "Related Person" means, with respect to a particular individual: 
 
         (a) each other member of such individual's Family; 
 
         (b) any Person that is directly or indirectly controlled by such  
individual or one or more member of such individual's Family; 
 
         (c) any Person in which such individual or members of such  
individual's Family hold (individually or in the aggregate) a Material Interest; 
and 
 
         (d) any Person with respect to which such individual or one or more  
members of such individual's Family serves as a director, officer partner, 
executor or trustee (or in a similar capacity). 
 
         With respect to a specified Person other than an individual: 
 
         (a) any Person that directly or indirectly controls, is directly or  
indirectly controlled by or is directly or indirectly under common control with 
such specified Person; 
 
         (b) any Person that holds a Material Interest in such specified Person; 
 
         (c) each Person that serves as a director, officer, partner, executor 
or trustee of such specified Person (or in a similar capacity); 
 
         (d) any Person in which such specified Person holds a Material 
Interest; 
 
         (e) any Person with respect to which such specified Person serves as a 
general partner or a trustee (or in a similar capacity); and 
 
         (f) any Related Person of any individual described in clause (b) or 
(c). 
 
         For purposes of this definition, (a) the "Family" of an individual 
includes (i) the individual's spouse and, (ii) any other natural person who is 
related to the individual or the individual's spouse within the second degree, 
and (b) "Material Interest" means direct or indirect 
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beneficial ownership (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934) of voting securities or other voting interests representing at least 
10% of the outstanding voting power of a Person or equity securities or other 
equity interests representing at least 10% of the outstanding equity securities 
or equity interests in a Person. 
 
         "Related Agreements" has the meaning as defined in Section 8.1. 
 
         "Release" means any spilling, leaking, emitting, discharging, 
depositing, escaping, leaching, dumping or other releasing into the Environment, 
whether intentional or unintentional. 
 
         "Representative" means with respect to a particular Person, any 
director, officer, employee, agent, consultant, advisor, or other representative 
of such Person, including legal counsel, accountants, and financial advisors. 
 
         "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or any 
successor law, regulations and rules issued pursuant to that act or any 
successor law. 
 
         "Sellers" means, collectively, the Control Group, the selling Minority 
Partners, and the selling Minority Shareholders. 
 
         "Sellers' Knowledge" means, collectively, the Knowledge of David 
Heavenridge, A. Russell Kirk, Jerry Moore, John Hutcheson, T. Richard Bryant, 
Jr. (with respect to GSHH/Bryant, L.L.C.), Deborah Stearns, Jane Ferrara, Neal 
Friedman, Pat Nalls (with respect to GSHH/LBG, L.L.C.), Melody Barackman, Eric 
Apperson and Bruce Ford. 
 
         "Seller's Release" has the meaning as defined in Section 2.4. 
 
         "Shares" means the issued and outstanding common stock of the General 
Partner. 
 
         "Stanton Obligations Agreement" has the meaning as defined in Section 
8.1. 
 
         "St. Joe Guaranty Agreement" has the meaning as defined in Section 8.1 
 
         "Subsidiary" has the meaning as defined in the Recitals of this 
Agreement. 
 
         "Support and Shared Services Agreement has the meaning as defined in 
Section 8.1. 
 
         "Tax" means any and all taxes, charges, fees, duties, levies or other 
assessments, including, without limitation, income, gross receipts, net 
proceeds, ad valorem, turnover, real and personal property (tangible and 
intangible), sales, use, franchise, excise, value added, license, payroll, 
unemployment, customs duties, disability, stamp, leasing, lease, user, transfer, 
fuel, excess profits, occupational and interest equalization, windfall profits, 
severance and employees' income withholding and Social Security taxes imposed 
by, the United States or any other country or by any state, municipality, 
subdivision or instrumentality of, the United States or of any other country or 
by any other Governmental Authority, including all applicable penalties and 
interest, and such term shall include any interest, penalties or additions to 
tax attributable to such Taxes. 
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         "Tax Return" means any return (including any information return), 
report, statement, schedule, notice, form or other document or information filed 
with or submitted to, or required to be filed with or submitted to any 
Governmental Body in connection with the determination, assessment, collection 
or payment of any Tax or in connection with the administration, implementation 
or enforcement of or compliance with any Legal Requirement relating to any Tax. 
 
         "Termination Agreement" has the meaning as defined in Section 8.1. 
 
         "Threat of Release" means a substantial likelihood of a Release that 
may require action in order to prevent or mitigate damage to the Environment 
that may result from such Release. 
 
         "Threatened" means a claim, Proceeding, dispute, action or other matter 
will be deemed to have been "Threatened" if any demand or statement has been 
made (in writing) or any notice has been given (in writing) or if any other 
event has occurred or any other circumstances exist that would lead a prudent 
Person to conclude that such a claim, Proceeding, dispute, action or other 
matter is likely to be asserted, commenced, taken or otherwise pursued in the 
future. 
 
 
                  ARTICLE II. - TRANSFER OF INTERESTS; CLOSING 
 
         2.1 LP INTERESTS AND SHARES. Subject to the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement: 
 
         (a) the Control Group agrees to sell, convey, transfer and deliver all 
of the Control Interests and the Control Shares to St. Joe at Closing, and St. 
Joe agrees to purchase the Control Interests and the Control Shares; 
 
         (b) St. Joe agrees to offer to purchase all of the Minority LP 
Interests from the Minority Partners and the Minority Shares from the Minority 
Shareholders; and 
 
         (c) St. Joe and the Control Group agree to cooperate to secure the 
agreement of the Minority Partners and the Minority Shareholders to sell, 
convey, transfer and deliver all of the Minority LP Interests and the Minority 
Shares to St. Joe at Closing. 
 
         2.2 PURCHASE PRICE AND PAYMENT. The purchase price to be paid by St. 
Joe to each of the Sellers shall be based upon a total agreed valuation of 
$15,650,000 (the "Purchase Price") for a sale of all of the LP Interests and all 
of the Shares. Each of the Sellers hereunder shall be paid on pro rata basis in 
accordance with their respective ownership interests in the Partnership and the 
General Partner. For purposes of calculating payments to the Shareholders, the 
aggregate value of all of the Shares is equal to $156,500. Payments shall be 
made by St. Joe in readily available funds to each of the Sellers on the 
following basis: 
 
         (a) Seventy one and one-half percent (71.5%) of the total amount due to 
the Sellers shall be payable at Closing.  
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         (b) Twelve and one-quarter percent (12.25%) of the total amount due to 
the Sellers shall be payable on the first anniversary of the Closing Date in 
accordance with the Promissory Notes. 
 
         (c) Twelve and one-quarter percent (12.25%) of the total amount due to 
the Sellers shall be payable on the second anniversary of the Closing Date in 
accordance with the Promissory Notes. 
 
         (d) Four percent (4%) of the total amount due to the Sellers shall be 
payable on the third anniversary of the Closing Date in accordance with the 
Promissory Notes. 
 
         2.3 CLOSING. The consummation of the Contemplated Transactions (the 
"Closing") provided for in this Agreement will take place at the offices of St. 
Joe's counsel at 9000 World Trade Center, Norfolk, Virginia on September 24, 
1998, or at such other time and place as the parties agree (the "Closing Date"). 
 
         2.4 CLOSING OBLIGATIONS. 
 
         (a) At Closing, the Control Group shall deliver, or cause to be 
delivered to St. Joe: 
 
            (i)   bills of sale collectively transferring the LP Interests of 
                  the Sellers to St. Joe; 
 
            (ii)  assignments of all of each of the Control Group's rights under 
                  the Fourth Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement 
                  of the Partnership and the Third Amended and Restated 
                  Shareholders Agreement of the General Partner; 
 
            (iii) an assignment from GSH, Inc. to the Partnership of the 
                  insurance policy in the face amount of $1,000,000 on the life 
                  of Robert Stanton, such assignment to be on the insurer's 
                  standard assignment form; 
 
            (iv)  certificates representing all of the Shares of the Sellers, 
                  duly endorsed (or accompanied by duly executed stock powers) 
                  for transfer to St. Joe; 
 
            (v)   a release in the form of Exhibit D attached hereto ("Seller's 
                  Release") executed by each of the Control Group; (vi) the duly 
                  executed Related Agreements to which members of the Control 
                  Group are parties; and 
 
            (vii) the legal opinion(s) of counsel for the Control Group and the 
                  Partnership. 
 
            In addition, the Control Group shall use its Best Efforts to obtain 
            and deliver landlord estoppel certificates dated within 20 days of 
            the Closing Date with respect to the status of each of the leases 
            set forth on Exhibit 3.9(b) attached hereto (collectively, the 
            "Estoppel Certificates"). 
 
         (b) At Closing, St. Joe shall deliver to each of the Sellers: 
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            (i)   readily available funds representing such Seller's pro rata 
                  portion of the Purchase Price payable at Closing; 
 
            (ii)  the duly executed Related Agreements to which St. Joe is a 
                  party; 
 
            (iii) the Promissory Notes; and 
 
            (iv)  the legal opinion of counsel for St. Joe. 
 
        2.5 POST-CLOSING DISTRIBUTION. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary 
contained herein, the Partnership shall distribute to the Sellers on a pro rata 
basis upon completion of the Partnership tax return, a cash amount equal to 
forty-two (42%) of the net income of the Partnership for calendar year 1998 up 
to the Closing Date, less any Partnership distributions made to the Sellers 
after February 18, 1998. 
 
 
ARTICLE III. - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF CONTROL GROUP, GENERAL PARTNER, 
               AND PARTNERSHIP 
 
         A.  Each of the Control Group, the General Partner and the Partnership, 
jointly and severally, represent and warrant to St. Joe as follows: 
 
         3.1 ORGANIZATION AND GOOD STANDING. 
 
         (a) Each of the Companies is duly organized, validly existing, and in 
good standing under the laws of its state of formation, with full power and 
authority to conduct its business as it is now being conducted, to own or use 
the properties and assets that it purports to own or use, and to perform all its 
obligations under Applicable Contracts. Each of the Companies is qualified to do 
business in those jurisdictions where it is required to be qualified, except 
where failure to be qualified would not have or result in a Material adverse 
effect on such Company's business, finances, or operations. The Control Group 
has delivered to St. Joe true, correct and complete copies of the Organizational 
Documents of all of the Companies, as currently in effect. 
 
         (b) Each entity of the Control Group is duly organized, validly 
existing, and in good standing under the laws of its state of formation, with 
full power and authority to conduct its business as it is now being conducted, 
to own or use the properties and assets that it purports to own or use, and to 
perform all its obligations under this Agreement and the Contemplated 
Transactions. Each entity of the Control Group is qualified to do business in 
those jurisdictions where it is required to be qualified, except where failure 
to be qualified would not have a Material adverse effect on such entity's 
business, finances, or operations. 
 
         3.2 AUTHORITY. 
 
         (a) The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the applicable 
Related Agreements by the General  
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Partner and the Partnership and the performance by the General Partner and the 
Partnership of their covenants and agreements hereunder and thereunder have been 
duly authorized by all necessary corporate action by the General Partner on 
behalf of itself and the Partnership. This Agreement and the Related Agreements 
to which they are parties constitute the legal, valid and binding obligation of 
the General Partner and the Partnership. 
 
         (b) The execution and delivery by each of the Control Group of this 
Agreement, the Related Agreements to which each of the Control Group is a party 
and the performance of the Contemplated Transactions have been approved by all 
necessary corporate, partnership, and other action. This Agreement and the 
Related Agreements to which each of the Control Group is a party constitute the 
legal, valid and binding obligation of each of the Control Group. Each of the 
Control Group has the absolute and unrestricted right, power, authority and 
capacity to execute and deliver this Agreement and the Related Agreements to 
which it is a party and to perform its obligations hereunder and thereunder. 
 
         3.3 NO CONFLICT. Except as shown on Exhibit 3.3, neither the execution 
and delivery of this Agreement nor the consummation or performance of any of the 
Contemplated Transactions will, directly or indirectly (with or without notice 
or lapse of time or both): 
 
                  (i)   contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of  
         (A) any provision of the Organizational Documents of any of the 
         Companies, or (B) any resolution adopted by the General Partner or 
         limited partners of the Partnership or (C) any resolution adopted by 
         the directors, stockholders, partners, managers or members of the 
         General Partner or the Subsidiaries; 
 
                  (ii)  contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of or 
         give any Governmental Body the right to exercise any remedy or obtain 
         any relief under, any Legal Requirement or any Order to which the 
         Control Group or any of the Companies, or any of the assets owned or 
         used by the Control Group or any of the Companies, may be subject; 
 
                  (iii) contravene, conflict with or result in a violation of 
         any of the terms or requirements of or give any Governmental Body the 
         right to revoke, withdraw, suspend, cancel, terminate or modify any 
         Governmental Authorization that is held by the Companies or that 
         otherwise relates to the business of, or any of the assets owned or 
         used by, the Companies; 
 
                  (iv)  contravene, conflict with or result in a violation or 
         breach of any provision of or give any Person the right to declare a 
         default or exercise any remedy under or to accelerate the maturity or 
         performance of or to cancel, terminate or modify any Applicable 
         Contract; or 
 
                  (v)   result in the imposition or creation of any Encumbrance 
         upon or with respect to any of the assets owned or used by any of the 
         Companies. 
 
                  None of the Control Group or the Companies is or will be 
required to give any notice to or obtain any Consent from any Person in 
connection with the execution and delivery of  
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this Agreement or the consummation or performance of any of the Contemplated 
Transactions, except as set forth on Exhibit 3.3 attached hereto. 
 
         3.4 OWNERSHIP OF CONTROL INTEREST AND CONTROL SHARES. 
 
         (a) Each of the Control Group is the record and beneficial owner and 
holder of its portion of the Control Interest, free and clear of all 
Encumbrances, and each of the Control Group has full legal right, power and 
authority to transfer its portion of the Control Interest to St. Joe. Except for 
the LP Interests, there are no outstanding equity securities or other securities 
or any subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, contracts, demands, commitments 
or other agreements requiring the Partnership to issue or entitling any Person 
to acquire any additional interest in or any other equity security of the 
Partnership. No legend or other reference to any purported Encumbrance appears 
upon any certificate representing the LP Interests. All of the LP Interests have 
been duly authorized, validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable. 
Neither the LP Interests nor any other securities of the Partnership were issued 
or transferred in violation of the Securities Act or any other Legal 
Requirement. Except as set forth on Exhibit 3.4 attached hereto, none of the 
Companies owns or has any Contract to acquire any equity securities or other 
securities of any Person or any direct or indirect equity or ownership interest 
in any other business other than the Subsidiaries. No former or present holder 
of any of the LP Interests in the Partnership has any legally cognizable claim 
against the Partnership or its current limited partners, based on any issuance, 
sale, purchase, redemption or involvement in any transfer of any equity interest 
by the Partnership. Except as set forth on Exhibit 3.4(a), the Partnership has 
no outstanding obligations to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any 
outstanding equity interests. 
 
         (b) Each of the Control Group is the record and beneficial owner and 
holder of its portion of the Control Shares, free and clear of all Encumbrances, 
and each of the Control Group has full legal right, power and authority to 
transfer its portion of the Control Shares to St. Joe. Except for the Shares, 
there are no outstanding equity securities or other securities or any 
subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, contracts, demands, commitments or 
other agreements requiring the Partnership to issue or entitling any Person to 
acquire any additional interest in or any other equity security of the 
Partnership. No legend or other reference to any purported Encumbrance appears 
upon any certificate representing the Shares. All of the Shares have been duly 
authorized, validly issued and are fully paid and nonassessable. Neither the 
Shares nor any other securities of the General Partner were issued or 
transferred in violation of the Securities Act or any other Legal Requirement. 
No former or present holder of any of the Shares of the General Partner has any 
legally cognizable claim against the General Partner or its current 
shareholders, based on any issuance, sale, purchase, redemption or involvement 
in any transfer of any equity interest by the General Partner. Except as set 
forth on Exhibit 3.4(b), the General Partner has no outstanding obligations to 
repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any outstanding equity interests. 
 
         3.5 CAPITALIZATION OF SUBSIDIARIES. The Partnership and the Persons 
identified on Exhibit B are the record and beneficial owner and holder of all of 
the ownership interests of each Subsidiary. There are no outstanding equity 
securities or other securities or any subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, 
contracts, demands, commitments or other agreements requiring any  
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Subsidiary to issue or entitling any Person to acquire any additional equity 
security of any Subsidiary except as set forth in Exhibit B. No legend or other 
reference to any purported Encumbrance appears upon any certificate representing 
equity securities of any Subsidiary. All of the outstanding equity securities of 
each Subsidiary have been duly authorized, validly issued and are fully paid and 
nonassessable. None of the outstanding equity securities or other securities or 
any subscriptions, options, warrants, calls, contracts, demands, commitments or 
other agreements requiring any Subsidiary to issue or entitling any Person or 
entity to acquire any additional shares of capital stock or any other equity 
security of any Subsidiary were issued or transferred in violation of the 
Securities Act or any other Legal Requirement. No Subsidiary owns, or has any 
Contract to acquire any equity securities or other securities of any Person, or 
any direct or indirect equity or ownership interest in any other business. No 
former or present holder of any membership interest of any Subsidiary has any 
legally cognizable claim against any of the Companies, based on any issuance, 
sale, purchase, redemption or involvement in any transfer of any equity interest 
by any Subsidiary. No Subsidiary has any outstanding obligations to repurchase, 
redeem or otherwise acquire any of its equity interests. 
 
         3.6      FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
 
                  (a) The Partnership and/or the Control Group has delivered to  
St. Joe consolidated balance sheets of the Partnership and the Subsidiaries (to 
the extent the Subsidiaries were in existence) at December 31 in each of the 
years 1995 through 1997 and the related consolidated statements of income, 
changes in stockholders' equity and cash flow for each of the fiscal years then 
ended, together with the report thereon of Deloitte & Touche, LLP, independent 
certified public accountants prepared in accordance with the Partnership's past 
practices. 
 
                  (b) Attached as Exhibit 3.6(b) hereto is the unaudited 
consolidated balance sheet of the Partnership as at June 30, 1998 ("Balance 
Sheet") and the related unaudited consolidated statements of income, all 
prepared in accordance with GAAP, for the six (6) months then ended (together, 
with the financial statements referred to in Section 3.6(a), the "Financial 
Statements"). 
 
                  (c) Exhibit 3.6(c) attached hereto sets forth the 1998 budget 
(the "Budget") for the financial performance of the Partnership. Each of the 
Control Group and the Partnership believes that the projections contained in the 
Budget, and the assumptions upon which such projections were based, were 
reasonable as of the date thereof; however, unanticipated events and 
circumstances may occur, and thus the actual results achieved during the periods 
covered by such projections may vary from such projections and such variations 
may be material. Any such variations shall not themselves be probative that such 
projections and the assumptions upon which they were based were not reasonable 
at the time they were made. 
 
         The Financial Statements and notes fairly present the consolidated 
financial condition and the results of operations, changes in partners' equity 
and cash flow of the Partnership and the Subsidiaries, as at the respective 
dates of and for the periods referred to in such financial statements, and as to 
the Balance Sheet without customary year and audit adjustments and without the 
notes which would normally accompany audited financial statements. 
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         3.7 LICENSING. Each of the Companies is licensed, authorized or 
registered as required to carry on such business carried on by it in each 
jurisdiction in which such businesses are carried on as of the date of this 
Agreement. The employees and the independent contractors of each of the 
Companies who need to be licensed or registered by any Governmental Authority 
have all necessary valid licenses and/or registrations to conduct the Material 
activities or perform the Material functions currently being conducted by such 
employees and independent contractors, or any of the Companies. A list of all 
such licenses and registrations required by the Companies and their employees 
and independent contractors is set forth on Exhibit 3.7 attached hereto. Except 
as set forth on Exhibit 3.7, (i) no Proceeding is pending, served or Threatened 
to suspend, revoke or limit any such license or registration of any of the 
Companies or any employee or consultant of any of the Companies; (ii) no such 
Proceeding has taken place since January 1, 1995; (iii) the consummation of the 
Contemplated Transactions will not result in the any such revocation, suspension 
or limitation; and (iv) to the Knowledge of the Control Group and the 
Partnership, there is no other circumstance which, with notice or passage of 
time or both, will result in any such revocation, suspension or limitation. 
 
         3.8 BOOKS AND RECORDS. The books of account, minute books, stock record 
books and other records of the Companies, all of which have been made available 
to St. Joe, are complete and correct in all Material respects. The minute books 
of the Companies contain accurate and complete records of all meetings held of, 
and action taken by, the respective stockholders, partners, members, managers 
and directors (including without limitation all issuances, transfers and 
redemptions of all equity interests of the Companies). At the Closing, all of 
those books and records will be in the possession of the Partnership. With 
respect to any meetings of stockholders, partners, members, managers, and 
directors of the Companies at which minutes were not taken, to the Sellers' 
Knowledge, there were no actions taken or liabilities or obligations undertaken 
by any of the Companies that were or are individually or in the aggregate 
Material to the businesses or operations of the Companies, except as otherwise 
disclosed to St. Joe. 
 
         3.9 TITLE TO PROPERTIES; LEASES AND ENCUMBRANCES. 
 
             (a) None of the Companies owns any real property in whole or in 
part. The Companies own all the properties and assets (whether tangible or 
intangible) reflected as owned in the books and records of the Companies, 
including all of the properties and assets reflected in the Balance Sheet and 
all of the properties and assets purchased or otherwise acquired by the 
Companies since the date of the Balance Sheet. All properties and assets 
reflected in the Balance Sheet are free and clear of all Encumbrances except, 
with respect to all such properties and assets (a) security interests shown on 
the Balance Sheet as securing specified liabilities or obligations, with respect 
to which no default (or event that, with notice or lapse of time or both, would 
constitute a default) exists, (b) security interests incurred in connection with 
the purchase of property or assets after the date of the Balance Sheet (such 
security interests being limited to the property or assets so acquired) with 
respect to which no default (or event that with notice or lapse of time or both 
would constitute a default) exists, and (c) liens for current taxes not yet due. 
 
             (b) Exhibit 3.9(b) attached hereto sets forth all leases of real 
property to which any of the Companies is a party, together with all amendments 
and supplements thereto and  
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modifications thereof. There is no default or claim of default pending, 
threatened or asserted in writing against any of the Companies by any party to 
any such contract or agreement, and all such contracts and agreements are 
currently in full force and effect, and there are no circumstances which, with 
notice or passage of time or both, would constitute a default or a breach 
thereunder. 
 
              (c) Exhibit 3.9(c) attached hereto sets forth a description of all 
leases of personal property involving expenditures of $25,000.00 or more in any 
year during its term to which any of the Companies is a party, together with all 
amendments and supplements thereto and modifications thereof. No personal 
property leasehold interest of any of the Companies is subject to or subordinate 
to any security interest, lease or other Encumbrance except as set forth on 
Exhibit 3.9(c). There is no default or, to the Sellers' Knowledge, claim of 
default pending, threatened or asserted in writing against any of the Companies 
by any party to any such contract or agreement, and all such contracts and 
agreements are currently in full force and effect, and there are no 
circumstances which, with notice or passage of time or both, would constitute a 
default or a breach thereunder. 
 
         3.10 CONDITION AND SUFFICIENCY OF ASSETS. Exhibit 3.10 attached hereto 
contains a complete and accurate list of the fixtures and equipment of the 
Companies. The fixtures and equipment of the Companies are structurally sound, 
are in good operating condition and repair and are adequate for the uses to 
which they are being put and none of such fixtures or equipment is in need of 
maintenance or repairs except for ordinary, routine maintenance and repairs that 
are not material in nature or cost. The fixtures and equipment of the Companies 
are sufficient for the continued conduct of the Companies' businesses after the 
Closing in substantially the same manner as conducted prior to the Closing. 
 
         3.11 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE. Except as set forth on Exhibit 3.11, all 
accounts receivable of the Partnership and the Subsidiaries that are reflected 
on the Balance Sheet (collectively, the "Accounts Receivable") represent or will 
represent valid obligations arising from sales actually made or services 
actually performed in the Ordinary Course of Business. Exhibit 3.11 sets forth 
the Accounts Receivable Ledger as of the date of the Balance Sheet, which list 
sets forth the aging of such Accounts Receivable. The Accounts Receivable as of 
the Closing Date will not represent a material adverse change in the composition 
of such Accounts Receivable in terms of aging. Except as set forth on Exhibit 
3.11, there is no pending contest, claim or right of set-off under any Contract 
with any obligor of an Accounts Receivable relating to the amount or validity of 
such Accounts Receivable in excess of reserves. 
 
         3.12 NO UNDISCLOSED LIABILITIES. None of the Companies has any 
liabilities (whether absolute, accrued, contingent or otherwise) as of June 30, 
1998, except for liabilities or obligations reflected or reserved against in the 
Balance Sheet and as set forth on Exhibit 3.12. The Partnership has provided St. 
Joe with all information and detail relating to any liability or obligation 
reflected on or reserved against in the Balance Sheet. Further, neither the 
Partnership nor any of the Subsidiaries is in violation of or default under any 
Contract which could give rise to any liability or obligation not disclosed on 
the Balance Sheet. 
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         3.13 TAXES. Each of the Companies has filed or cause to be filed (on a 
timely basis since its creation) all Tax Returns that are or were required to be 
filed by it either separately or as a member of a group, pursuant to applicable 
Legal Requirements. The Partnership has delivered to St. Joe copies of all such 
Tax Returns filed since December 31, 1995. The Companies have paid on a timely 
basis or made provision for the payment of all Taxes that have or may have 
become due pursuant to those Tax Returns or otherwise, or pursuant to any 
assessment received by any of the Companies. The charges, accruals and reserves 
with respect to Taxes on the books of each of the Companies are adequate 
(determined in accordance with GAAP) and are at least equal to such Companies' 
liability for Taxes. There exists no proposed tax assessment or other dispute or 
claim for Taxes against any of the Companies except as disclosed in the Balance 
Sheet. No consent to the application of Section 341(f)(2) of the IRC has been 
filed with respect to any property or assets held, acquired, or to be acquired 
by the Companies. All Taxes that the Companies are or were required by Legal 
Requirements to withhold or collect have been duly withheld or collected and, to 
the extent required, have been paid to the proper Governmental Body or other 
Person on a timely basis. All Tax Returns filed by the Companies are true, 
correct and complete. Except as set forth on Exhibit 3.13, there is no tax 
sharing agreement that will require any payment by any of the Companies after 
the date of this Agreement. None of the Companies has executed an extension or 
waiver of any statute of limitations on the assessment or collection of any Tax. 
Except as set forth on Exhibit 3.13, there is no audit, examination, deficiency 
or refund Proceeding with respect to Taxes of any kind pending or Threatened 
against any of the Companies, and there is no basis in fact for any assessment 
of any additional Tax. 
 
         3.14 NO MATERIAL ADVERSE CHANGE. Except as set forth on Exhibit 3.14, 
since the date of the Balance Sheet, there has not been any Material adverse 
change in the business, operations, properties, prospects, assets or condition 
of any of the Companies, and no event has occurred or circumstance exists that 
may result in such a Material adverse change. 
 
         3.15 [Intentionally Deleted.] 
 
         3.16 COMPLIANCE WITH LEGAL REQUIREMENTS. Each of the Companies is, and 
at all times since January 1, 1995, has been in compliance with each Legal 
Requirement that is or was applicable to it and material to the conduct or 
operation of its business or the ownership or use of any of its assets. No event 
has occurred or circumstance exists that (with or without notice or lapse of 
time or both) (A) may constitute or result in a Material violation by any of the 
Companies of or a failure on the part of any of the Companies to comply with any 
Legal Requirement, or (B) may give rise to any obligation on the part of any of 
the Companies to undertake or to bear all or any portion of the cost of any 
remedial action of any nature. Except as set forth on Exhibit 3.16 attached 
hereto, none of the Companies has received, at any time since January 1, 1995, 
any notice or other written communication from any Governmental Body or any 
other Person regarding (A) any actual, alleged, possible or potential Material 
violation of or failure to comply with any Legal Requirement, or (B) any actual, 
alleged, possible or potential obligation on the part of any of the Companies to 
undertake or to bear all or any portion of the cost of any remedial action of 
any nature. 
 
         3.17 GOVERNMENTAL AUTHORIZATIONS. Exhibit 3.17 attached hereto contains 
a complete and accurate list of each Governmental Authorization that is held by 
the Companies. 
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Each Governmental Authorization listed or required to be listed on Exhibit 3.17 
is valid and in full force and effect. Each of the Companies is, and at all 
times since January 1, 1995, has been in Material compliance with all of the 
terms and requirements of each Governmental Authorization identified or required 
to be identified on Exhibit 3.17 attached hereto. No event has occurred or 
circumstance exists that may (with or without notice or lapse of time or both) 
(A) constitute or result directly or indirectly in a Material violation of or a 
failure to comply with any term or requirement of any Governmental Authorization 
listed or required to be listed on Exhibit 3.17, or (B) result directly or 
indirectly in the revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation or 
termination of or any modification to any Governmental Authorization listed or 
required to be listed on Exhibit 3.17. None of the Companies has received, at 
any time since January 1, 1995, any notice or other communication from any 
Governmental Body or any other written Person regarding (A) any actual, alleged, 
possible or potential violation of or failure to comply with any term or 
requirement of any Governmental Authorization, or (B) any actual, proposed, 
possible or potential revocation, withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, 
termination of or modification to any Governmental Authorization. All 
applications required to have been filed for the renewal of the Governmental 
Authorizations listed or require to be listed on Exhibit 3.17 have been duly 
filed on a timely basis with the appropriate Governmental Bodies and all other 
filings required to have been made with respect to such Governmental 
Authorizations have been duly made on a timely basis with the appropriate 
Governmental Bodies. The Governmental Authorizations listed on Exhibit 3.17 
collectively constitute all of the Material Governmental Authorizations 
necessary to permit each of the Companies to lawfully conduct and operate its 
business in the manner it currently conducts and operates such business and to 
permit each of the Companies to own and use its assets in the manner in which it 
currently owns and uses such assets. 
 
         3.18 LEGAL PROCEEDINGS. Except as disclosed on Exhibit 3.18 attached 
hereto, there is no pending Proceeding: (A) that has been commenced by or 
against any of the Companies that relates to the business of or any of the 
assets owned or used by any of the Companies; or (B) that challenges or that may 
have the effect of preventing, delaying, making illegal or otherwise interfering 
with any of the Contemplated Transactions. Except as disclosed on Exhibit 3.18, 
(A) no such Proceeding has been Threatened, and (B) no event has occurred or 
circumstance exists that may give rise to or serve as a basis for the 
commencement of any such Proceeding. There is no Proceeding pending or 
Threatened which otherwise relates to or may materially and adversely affect the 
business of any of the Companies. 
 
         3.19 ORDERS. There is no Order to which any of the Companies or any of 
the assets owned or used by any of the Companies is subject. No officer, 
director or employee of any of the Companies is subject to any Order that 
prohibits such officer, director or employee from engaging in or continuing any 
conduct, activity or practice relating to the business of any of the Companies. 
 
         3.20 ABSENCE OF CERTAIN CHANGES AND EVENTS. Since the date of the 
Balance Sheet, the Companies have conducted their respective businesses only in 
the Ordinary Course of Business and except as set forth on Exhibit 3.20, there 
has not been any: (i) change in the ownership interests of any of the Companies; 
grant of any option or right to purchase ownership interests of any of the 
Companies; issuance of any security convertible into such ownership interest; 
grant of any registration rights; purchase, redemption, retirement or other 
acquisition by  
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any of the Companies of any ownership interests or other securities; or 
declaration or payment of any dividend or other distribution or payment to its 
shareholders, members, or partners; (ii) amendment to the Organizational 
Documents of any of the Companies; (iii) payment or increase by any of the 
Companies of any bonuses, salaries or other compensation to any stockholder, 
partner, member, manager, director, officer or employee (except in the Ordinary 
Course of Business) or entry into any employment, severance or similar Contract 
with any stockholder, member, manager, director, officer or employee; (iv) 
payment on account of the LP Interests by way of dividends or other 
distributions of cash or other assets of the Partnership; (v) damage to or 
destruction or loss of any asset or property of any of the Companies, whether or 
not covered by insurance, materially and adversely affecting the properties, 
assets, business, financial condition or prospects of the Companies taken as a 
whole; (vi) other than in the Ordinary Course of Business, entry into, 
termination of or receipt of notice of termination of (1) any license, 
distributorship, dealer, sales representative, joint venture, management, 
development, credit or similar agreement; (2) any Management, Development, 
Construction or Leasing Agreement; or (3) any Contract or transaction involving 
a total remaining commitment by or to any of the Companies of at least 
Twenty-Five Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($25,000.00); (vii) purchase, sale, 
lease or other disposition of any asset or property of any of the Companies or 
mortgage, pledge or imposition of any lien or other encumbrance on any material 
asset or property of any of the Companies involving Twenty-Five Thousand and 
no/100 Dollars ($25,000.00) or more, including the sale, lease or other 
disposition of any of the assets; (viii) cancellation or waiver of any claims or 
rights with a value to any of the Companies in excess of Twenty-Five Thousand 
and no/100 Dollars ($25,000.00); (ix) change in the tax elections or accounting 
methods used by any of the Companies; or (x) agreement, whether oral or written, 
by any of the Companies to do any of the foregoing; (xi) any borrowings, other 
than trade payables incurred in the Ordinary Course of Business; (xii) any 
change in existing credit arrangements with any bank or other institution; 
(xiii) any loan or advance made to any officer, director, consultant, agent, 
employee or shareholder, or Related Person of any of the foregoing; or (xiv) any 
Material transactions outside the Ordinary Course of Business. 
 
         3.21 CONTRACTS. Exhibit 3.21 attached hereto contains a complete and 
accurate list and the Partnership and/or the Control Group has delivered to St. 
Joe true and complete copies of: 
 
              (i)    each Applicable Contract that involves performance of  
         services or delivery of goods or materials in excess of One Hundred 
         Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($100,000.00) per annum by the Partnership 
         and all Subsidiaries, including without limitation the Development, 
         Management, Construction and Leasing Agreements; 
 
              (ii)   each licensing agreement or other Applicable Contract 
         with respect to patents, trademarks, copyrights or other intellectual 
         property, including agreements with current or former employees, 
         consultants or contractors in excess of Twenty-Five Thousand and no/100 
         Dollars ($25,000.00) per annum; 
 
              (iii)  each joint venture, partnership and other Applicable 
         Contract (however named) involving a sharing of profits, losses, costs 
         or liabilities by any of the Companies with any other Person; 
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                  (iv)   each Applicable Contract containing covenants that in 
         any way purport to restrict the business activity any of the Companies 
         or limit the freedom of any of the Companies to engage in any line of 
         business or to compete with any Person; 
 
                  (v)    each Applicable Contract providing for payments to or 
         by any Person based on sales, purchases or profits in excess of 
         Twenty-Five Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($25,000.00) per annum other 
         than direct payments for good and services; 
 
                  (vi)   each power of attorney that is currently effective and 
         outstanding; 
 
                  (vii)  each Applicable Contract for capital expenditures in 
         excess of Twenty-Five Thousand and no/100 Dollars ($25,000.00) per 
         annum; 
 
                  (viii) each written warranty, guaranty and/or other similar 
         undertaking with respect to contractual performance extended by any of 
         the Companies in excess of Twenty-Five Thousand and no/100 ($25,000.00) 
         per annum; 
 
                  (x)    all leases of real property; 
 
                  (xi)   each Applicable Contract with any director, officer, 
         shareholder employee, or affiliates of any of the foregoing entered 
         into by any of the Companies; 
 
                  (xii)  any other written or unwritten agreement that is 
         Material to the business of any of the Companies; and 
 
                  (xiii) each amendment, supplement and modification (whether 
         oral or written) in respect of any of the foregoing. 
 
         Each Contract identified or required to be identified on Exhibit 3.21 
is in full force and effect, and to Sellers' Knowledge, there are no Material 
defaults thereunder by any of the parties. 
 
         3.22     NO DEFAULTS.  Except as set forth on Exhibit 3.22: 
 
                  (i)   the Companies are, and at all times have been, in 
         compliance with all applicable and material terms and requirements of 
         each Contract under which any of the Companies has or had any 
         obligation or liability or by which any of the Companies or any of the 
         assets owned or used by any of the Companies is or was bound; 
 
                  (ii)  to the Sellers' Knowledge, each other Person that has or 
         had any obligation or liability under any Contract under which any of 
         the Companies has or had any rights is, and at all times has been, in 
         compliance with all applicable terms and requirements of such Contract; 
 
                  (iii) no event has occurred or circumstance exists that (with 
         or without notice or lapse of time) may contravene, conflict with or 
         result in a Material violation or breach of or give the Partnership, a 
         Subsidiary or other Person the right to declare a default or 
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         exercise any remedy under or to accelerate the maturity or performance 
         of or to cancel, terminate or modify any Applicable Contract; 
 
                  (iv)  none of the Companies has given to, or received from, 
         any other Person, at any time any notice or other written communication 
         regarding any actual, alleged, possible or potential violation or 
         breach of or default under any Contract; and 
 
                  (v)   none of any of the Companies is or will be required to 
         give any notice to or obtain Consent from any Person in connection with 
         the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the consummation or 
         performance of any of the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
         3.23 INSURANCE. Each of the Companies maintains insurance policies of 
fire and extended coverage and casualty, liability and other forms of insurance 
in such amounts and against such risks and losses as are set forth on Exhibit 
3.23 attached hereto. All such insurance policies are in full force and effect 
and, taken together, provide adequate insurance coverage for the assets and the 
operations of the Companies and cover all risks normally insured against by a 
Person carrying on the same business or businesses as the Companies. 
 
         None of the Companies has received (i) any refusal of coverage or any 
notice that a defense will be afforded with reservation of rights, or (ii) any 
notice of cancellation or any other indication that any insurance policy is no 
longer in full force or effect or will not be renewed or that the issuer of any 
policy is not willing or able to perform its obligations thereunder. Each of the 
Companies has paid all premiums due and has, except as described on Exhibit 
3.23, otherwise performed all of its obligations under each policy to which any 
of the Companies is a party or that provides coverage to any of the Companies or 
any director, officer, employee, agent or consultant of any of the Companies 
thereof. Except as described on Exhibit 3.23, each of the Companies, as 
applicable, has given notice to the insurer of all claims that may be insured 
thereby. 
 
         3.24 ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS. 
 
         (a)  Each of the Companies is, and at all times has been, in compliance 
with and has not been and is not in violation of or liable under any 
Environmental Law. Each of the Companies has not received any order, notice or 
other communication alleging any actual or potential Material violation or 
failure to comply with any Environmental Law or of any actual or Threatened 
Material obligation to undertake or bear the cost of any Environmental, Health 
and Safety Liabilities with respect to any of the Facilities or any other 
properties or assets (whether real, personal or mixed) in which the Partnership 
has had an interest or with respect to any property or Facility at or to which 
Hazardous Materials were generated, manufactured, refined, transferred, 
imported, used or processed by the Partnership. 
 
         (b)  To the Knowledge of the Control Group and the Partnership, there 
are no Material pending or, Threatened Encumbrances or Environmental, Health and 
Safety Liabilities with respect to or affecting any of the Facilities or any 
other properties and assets (whether real, personal or mixed) in which any of 
the Companies has or had an interest. 
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         (c) None of the Companies has Knowledge of any basis to expect, nor has 
it received any citation, directive, inquiry, notice, Order, summons, warning or 
other communication that relates to any alleged, actual or potential Material 
obligation to undertake or bear the cost of any Environmental, Health and Safety 
Liabilities with respect to any of the Facilities or any other properties or 
assets (whether real, personal or mixed) in which any of the Companies has or 
had an interest, or with respect to any property or facility to which Hazardous 
Materials generated, manufactured, refined, transferred, imported, used or 
processed by the Partnership, have been transported, treated, stored, handled, 
transferred, disposed, recycled or received. 
 
         (d) None of the Companies has Knowledge of any Material Environmental, 
Health and Safety Liabilities with respect to any property geologically or 
hydrologically adjoining the Facilities or any such other property or assets. 
 
         (e) None of the Companies has permitted or conducted or is aware of any 
Material Hazardous Activity conducted with respect to the Facilities or any 
other properties or assets (whether real, personal or mixed) in which any of the 
Companies has or had an interest except in full compliance with all applicable 
Environmental Laws. 
 
         (f) None of the Companies has Knowledge of any Material Release, or 
Threat of Release, of any Hazardous Materials at or from the Facilities or at 
any other locations where any Hazardous Materials were generated, manufactured, 
refined, transferred, produced, imported, used or processed from or by the 
Facilities or from or by any other properties and assets (whether real, personal 
or mixed) in which any of the Companies has or had an interest whether by the 
Partnership or any other Person. 
 
         (g) The Control Group and/or the Partnership has delivered to St. Joe 
true and complete copies and results of any reports, studies, analyses, tests or 
monitoring possessed or initiated by any of the Companies pertaining to 
Hazardous Materials or Hazardous Activities in, on or under the Facilities or 
concerning compliance with Environmental Laws by any of the Companies. 
 
         (h) The Partnership is and has been in substantial compliance with all 
Material obligations under all Contracts for the management of real property, 
including obligations related to environmental matters. 
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         3.25     EMPLOYEE MATTERS 
 
                  (a) Disclosure of Personnel. Exhibit 3.25(a) contains a  
complete and accurate list of the following information as of June 30, 1998, for 
each employee, partner, officer, manager or director of each of the Companies 
and their operational division, including each such person on leave of absence 
or layoff status: name; address; job title; current compensation (including 
bonus, commission, incentive or other form of compensation) paid or payable; 
last increase in compensation; amount actually paid in 1997, and vacation, sick 
leave or other personal leave accrued, and when applicable, relevant information 
concerning the vesting and eligibility of such employees under any employee 
benefit plan. Except as set forth on Exhibit 3.25(a) or Exhibits 3.25(j) - (m) 
attached hereto, no employee, partner, officer, or director of any of the 
Companies is a party to or is otherwise bound by any agreement or arrangement, 
including any confidentiality, non-competition or proprietary rights agreement 
between such employee, partner, officer or director and any of the Companies, or 
to Seller's Knowledge, any other Person ("Proprietary Rights Agreement") that in 
any way adversely affects or will affect (i) the performance of his or her 
duties as an employee, partner, officer or director of any of the Companies, or 
(ii) the ability of any of the Companies to conduct its business. To the 
Knowledge of the Control Group and the Partnership, no director, officer, 
manager or other key employee of any of the Companies intends to terminate his 
or her employment with any of the Companies, except for Jerry Moore. 
 
                  (b) Independent Contractors. Exhibit 3.25(b) is a true and 
complete list, for calendar year 1996, calendar year 1997 and calendar year 1998 
to date, of the Companies' brokers, sales agents or other persons whom the 
Companies treat as independent contractors or consultants not included in 
Exhibit 3.25(a) ranked, (i) on a company-wide basis, by gross income and (ii) on 
an office-by-office basis, by gross income. 
 
                  (c) Except as set forth in Exhibits 3.25(a), (b) and (c), none 
of the Companies has any: 
 
                      (i)   Outstanding written or oral employment, consulting 
or retainer (except for retainer agreements with attorneys and accountants and 
retainer agreements for the provision of services for any of the Companies that 
are terminable at will by the respective Company) agreements for rendition of 
services by any person or any outstanding obligation under any prior written or 
oral agreement of such nature; 
 
                      (ii)  Officers or other employees or consultants whose 
employment or retainer, as the case may be, cannot be terminated by any of the 
Companies at will and without penalty, and, without payment of any severance or 
similar benefits imposed by any contract; or 
 
                      (iii) Obligations to make future contributions to fund 
bonus, pension, profit sharing or deferred compensation agreements, plans, or 
arrangements. 
 
                  (d) Except as set forth on Exhibit 3.25(d), none of the 
Companies has any "golden parachute agreements" or agreements providing 
payments, bonuses, or termination or acceleration rights, or other benefits to 
employees or other Persons in connection with or as a result of a change in 
control of any of the Companies. 
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                  (e) Except as provided elsewhere in this Agreement or on 
Exhibit 3.25, to the Knowledge of the Companies, none of the Companies has any 
outstanding liability to any of their employees, partners, officers or directors 
except (i) accrued salaries during the current period (not to exceed one month) 
or accrued compensation or commissions, as the case may be, and (ii) normal 
vacations during the preceding twelve months and accrued sick leave. 
 
 
                  (f) Employee Benefit Plans. 
 
                      (i)     Exhibit 3.25(f) lists all employee benefit plans, 
whether or not any of the Companies maintains or otherwise contributes to such 
benefit plans, or other similar arrangements to which any of the Companies or 
any ERISA Affiliate contribute, are a party or by which they are bound, legally 
or otherwise (collectively, "Benefit Plans"), including, without limitation, (1) 
any profit sharing, deferred compensation, bonus, stock option, stock purchase, 
pension, retainer, consulting, retirement, severance, welfare or incentive plan, 
agreement or arrangement, (2) any plan, agreement or arrangement providing for 
"fringe benefits" or perquisites to employees, partners, officers, directors or 
agents, including but not limited to benefits relating to automobiles, clubs, 
vacation, child care, parenting, sabbatical, sick leave, medical, dental, 
hospitalization, life insurance and other types of insurance, (3) any employment 
agreement, oral or written (except those listed on Exhibits 3.25(a) or (b)) and 
(4) any other "employee benefit plan" (within the meaning of Section 3(3) of the 
Employment Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"). True 
and complete copies of all written Benefit Plans have been provided to St. Joe. 
 
                       (ii)   No Benefit Plan, nor any prior plan or arrangement 
for which any of the Companies has ever had a liability or responsibility, is, 
or was, subject to Title IV of ERISA or a multiemployer plan (within the meaning 
of Section 3(37) of ERISA) and except as disclosed in Exhibit 3.25(f), no 
Benefit Plan is a stock bonus, pension or profit sharing plan with in the 
meaning of Section 401(a) of the Code. Each Benefit Plan which is intended to be 
qualified under the terms of Code ss. 401(a) is noted in Exhibit 3.25(f). No 
ERISA Affiliate maintains a plan that is subject to Title IV of ERISA or that is 
a multiemployer plan. 
 
                       (iii)  Except as disclosed in Exhibit 3.25(f)(iii), (1) 
there are no actions, suits or claims pending or, to any of the Companies' 
knowledge, Threatened against such Benefit Plans or their assets, or arising out 
of such Benefit Plans, (2) no facts exist which could give rise to any such 
actions, suits or claims which would have a material adverse effect on any of 
the Companies prior to Closing or after the Closing and (3) the Companies have 
performed all of their respective obligations under all such Benefit Plans in 
all respects, all of which are in full force and effect. 
 
                       (iv)   Except as disclosed in Exhibit 3.25(f)(iv) and as 
otherwise required by law, each of the Benefit Plans can be terminated within a 
period of sixty (60) days without payment of any additional compensation or 
additional vesting or acceleration of any such benefits. 
 
                       (v)    Except as disclosed in Exhibit 3.25(f)(v), there 
is no default under the Benefit Plans and (2) there have been no claims of 
defaults and, to the best knowledge of any 
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of the Companies, there are no facts or conditions which if continued will 
result in a default under these contracts or arrangements. 
 
                       (vi)   Except for the Assumed Liabilities or as disclosed 
in Exhibit 3.25(f)(vi), as of the Closing all contributions for all Benefit 
Plans shall have been paid or accrued on the 1998 Balance Sheet. 
 
                       (vii)  Except as disclosed in Exhibit 3.25(f)(vii), all  
Benefit Plans obligations are fully funded or fully insured to the extent such 
Benefit Plans are required to be funded or insured pursuant to the terms of such 
Benefit Plans or applicable law. 
 
                       (viii) Each of the Companies has provided St. Joe with 
all documents, including, but not limited to, the funding agreement and current 
financial statements, Forms 5500 and summary plan description for each Benefit 
Plan. 
 
                  (g)  Compliance with ERISA, the Code and other Employment 
Laws. Except as disclosed in Exhibit 3.25(g), (i) the Companies are in full 
compliance with the applicable provisions of ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code 
(as amended through the date of the Agreement), the regulations and published 
authorities thereunder, and all other laws applicable with respect to all 
Benefit Plans in all respects, (ii) there has been no act or omission by any of 
the Companies, or any ERISA Affiliate that has given rise to or may give rise to 
fines, penalties, taxes, or related charges under Section 502(c) or (i) or 
Section 4071 of ERISA or Chapter 43 of the Code (iii) the Companies have 
complied in all respects to with, and are not in violation in any respect of, 
applicable federal, state and local equal employment opportunity law and other 
employment or labor statutes, laws and regulations with respect to any of the 
Companies and (iv) there are no pending or threatened unfair labor practice 
charges, administrative agency charges, or law suits alleging violation of such 
laws or asserting any claims with respect to employment, and none of the 
Companies has taken any action which could give rise to any such charges. 
 
                  (h)  Group Health Plans. Except as disclosed in Exhibit 
3.25(h), the Benefit Plans have been operated in compliance with the group 
health plan continuation coverage requirements of Part 6 of Title I of ERISA and 
4980B of the Code in all respects to the extent such requirements are 
applicable. 
 
                  (i)  Collective Bargaining Agreements. Except as set forth in 
Exhibit 3.25(i), during the five (5) year period preceding the date hereof and 
presently, none of the Companies or any predecessors thereof, (i) have been a 
party to any collective bargaining agreement or other labor contract with any 
labor union or other representative of its employees; (ii) have been subject to 
any union organizing activities, or any pending or threatened petition or other 
demand for representation has been made of them by any labor union or other 
representative of its employees; (iii) have engaged in any unfair labor 
practice, and no unfair labor practice charge or complaint against them is 
pending before or threatened to be filed with the National Labor Relations Board 
or other governmental agency; or (iv) have not experienced any strike, dispute, 
slowdown, interruption or work stoppage by their labor force due to employment 
problems of any nature, and there are no such pending or threatened actions 
against the Seller by its labor force. 
 
 
                                      -29- 



   30 
 
 
                  (j) Non-competition Agreements. Exhibit 3.25(j) is a true and 
complete list of all non-competition agreements to which any of the Companies is 
a party. 
 
                  (k) Confidentiality Agreements. Exhibit 3.25(k) is a true and 
complete list of all agreements for confidentiality is the primary purpose and 
to which any of the Companies is a party. 
 
                  (l) Non-Solicitation Agreements. Exhibit 3.25(l) is a true and 
complete list of all non-solicitation agreements to which any of any of the 
Companies is a party. 
 
                  (m) Indemnification Agreements. Exhibit 3.25(m) is a true and 
complete list of all agreements for which indemnification is the primary purpose 
and to which any of the Companies is a party. 
 
                  (n) Excess Parachute Payments. The consummation of the 
transactions contemplated by the Agreement shall not result in the acceleration 
of the vesting or in the payment of benefits or in the payment of any amounts 
which would be considered "excess parachute payments" within the meaning of 
Section 280G of the Code. 
 
 
         3.26     INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY. 
 
                  (a) None of the Companies owns any patent, patent application 
or invention or discovery that may be patentable or any copyright in either 
published works or unpublished works. 
 
                  (b) Exhibit 3.26 attached hereto lists (i) all of the 
fictitious business names, trade names, registered and unregistered trademarks, 
service marks and applications being used by the Companies (collectively, 
"Marks"); and contains (ii) a complete and accurate list and summary 
description, including any royalties paid or received by any of the Companies, 
of all Contracts relating to (x) the Marks and (y) all know-how, trade secrets, 
confidential information, customer lists, software, technical information, data 
process technology, plans, drawings and blue prints (collectively, "Trade 
Secrets") being used by any of the Companies. Except as disclosed on Exhibit 
3.26, the Companies own the Marks, free and clear of all Encumbrances, and there 
are no outstanding or Threatened disputes or disagreements with respect to any 
of the Contracts listed on Exhibit 3.26. The Partnership has provided or will 
provide St. Joe prior to the Closing with true and complete copies of each item 
listed or required to be listed on Exhibit 3.26. The Companies have not 
infringed on any proprietary rights of any other Person. To Sellers' Knowledge, 
each of the Companies owns, or possesses valid license rights to, all computer 
software programs that are material to the conduct of the business of the 
Companies. Neither the Control Group nor the Partnership knows of any reason why 
the consummation of the Contemplated Transactions would result in the loss or 
impairment of any of the Marks or Trade Secrets. 
 
         3.27     CERTAIN PAYMENTS. None of the Companies nor any director, 
officer, agent, consultant or employee of any of the Companies has directly or 
indirectly (i) made any illegal contribution, gift, bribe, rebate, payoff, 
influence payment, kickback or other payment to any Person, private or public, 
regardless of form, whether in money, property or services (a) to obtain 
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favorable treatment in securing business, (b) to pay for favorable treatment for 
business secured, (c) to obtain special concessions or for special concessions 
already obtained for or in respect of any of the Companies or any Related Person 
of any of the Companies, or (d) in violation of any Legal Requirement, and (ii) 
established or maintained on behalf of any of the Companies any fund or asset 
that has not been recorded in the books and records of the applicable Companies. 
 
         3.28 DISCLOSURE. No representation, warranty or statement of the 
Partnership, the General Partner, or the Control Group in this Agreement and no 
statement contained in any other document executed in connection with this 
Agreement contains an untrue statement of material fact or omits to state a 
material fact necessary to make the statements herein or therein in light of the 
circumstances in which they were made not misleading. There is no fact known to 
the Control Group, the Partnership or the General Partner that has specific 
application to the Companies (other than general economic or industry 
conditions) and that Materially adversely affects the assets, business, 
prospects, financial condition or results of operations of the Companies that 
has not been set forth in this Agreement or the Exhibits. 
 
         3.29 RELATIONSHIPS WITH RELATED PERSONS. Except as listed on Exhibit 
3.29 attached hereto, none of the Control Group nor any Related Person of the 
Control Group has, or since January 1, 1995, has had, any interest in any 
property (whether real, personal or mixed and whether tangible or intangible) 
used in or pertaining to any of the Companies' businesses. Except as listed on 
Exhibit 3.29 attached hereto, no Related Person of any of the Control Group 
owns, or since January 1, 1995 has owned (of record or as a beneficial owner), 
an equity interest or any other financial or profit interest in a Person that 
has (i) had business dealings or a material financial interest in any 
transaction with any of the Companies which involved payment in excess of $ 
25,000.00 per annum, or (ii) engaged in competition with any of the Companies 
with respect to any line of the products or services of any of the Companies in 
any market presently served by any of the Companies. 
 
         3.30 BROKERS OR FINDERS. None of the Control Group nor any of the 
Companies has incurred any obligation or liability, contingent or otherwise, for 
brokerage or finders' fees or agents' commissions or other similar payments in 
connection with this Agreement or any of the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
         3.31 BANK ACCOUNTS. A complete list of all bank accounts and safe 
deposit boxes maintained by each of the Companies and all persons entitled to 
draw thereon or with access thereto is set forth on Exhibit 3.31. 
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         3.32 YEAR 2000 PROBLEM. 
 
         (a)  To the Companies' Knowledge, Exhibit 3.32(a) lists all of the 
computer software, hardware, and related systems and equipment being used by any 
of the Companies, whether owned or leased, and including without limitation all 
equipment containing embedded computer chips (collectively, the "Computer 
Systems"). The Companies have taken reasonable steps, as summarized on Exhibit 
3.32(a), to ensure that the Computer Systems will not generate any invalid 
and/or incorrect date-related results or cause any Material "Year 2000 Problems" 
and will, without interruption or manual intervention, continue to operate 
consistently, predictably and accurately and will meet all Material 
specifications and/or functionality and performance requirements, when used 
during any year prior to, during or after the calendar year 2000. A "Year 2000 
Problem" for the purposes of this Agreement means a date-handling problem 
arising out of relating to the Year 2000 date change that would make software, a 
computer system, or a piece of equipment incapable of correctly processing, 
providing interfacing, exchanging, and/or receiving accurate date-related data 
for the dates within and between the twentieth and twenty-first centuries. 
 
         (b) "Building Systems" means any and all equipment and systems 
(including without limitation elevators, HVAC, electrical, lighting, 
communications, and plumbing equipment and systems) used in the operation and 
maintenance of buildings, plants, or structures owned or managed by any of the 
Companies. Exhibit 3.32(b) summarizes the ongoing efforts of the Companies to 
investigate, determine the existence of, analyze, and correct any Year 2000 
Problems in or affecting the Building Systems. 
 
B.       Dominion and GSH, Inc., jointly and severally, represent and warrant to 
         St. Joe that: 
 
         3.33 ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE OF ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES--DOMINION AND GSH, 
INC.  To the actual Knowledge of David Heavenridge, Jerry Moore and Bruce Ford 
(without due diligence or investigation) as of the date of this Agreement, there 
are no Material Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities related to any 
Partnership-managed real properties which will give rise to liability to the 
Partnership. 
 
         3.34 DOMINION PROPERTIES.  As of the date of this Agreement, there are 
no Material Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities related to the 
Partnership-managed real properties listed on Exhibit A of the Dominion Group 
Support Agreement, which will give rise to liability to GSHH. 
 
         C. HK, LP represents and warrants to St. Joe that: 
 
         3.35 ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE OF ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES--HK, LP. To the 
actual Knowledge of A. Russell Kirk, Daniel A. Hoffler, and Bruce Ford (without 
due diligence or investigation) as of the date of this Agreement, there are no 
Material Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities related to any 
Partnership-managed real properties which will give rise to liability to the 
Partnership. 
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         3.36 ARMADA/HOFFLER PROPERTIES. As of the date of this Agreement, 
there are no Material Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities related to 
the Partnership-managed real properties listed on Exhibit A of the Support and 
Shared Services Agreement, which will give rise to liability to GSHH. 
 
                ARTICLE IV. - REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF  
                                     ST. JOE 
 
         St. Joe represents and warrants to each of the Control Group as 
follows: 
 
         4.1 ORGANIZATION AND GOOD STANDING. St. Joe is a corporation duly 
organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the State of 
Florida, with full power and authority to conduct its business as it is now 
being conducted, to own or use the properties and assets that it purports to own 
or use, and to perform all its obligations under contracts to which it is a 
party. St. Joe is qualified to do business in those jurisdictions where it is 
required to be qualified, except where failure to be qualified would not have or 
result in a Material adverse effect on St. Joe's business, finances, or 
operations. 
 
         4.2 AUTHORITY. This Agreement constitutes the legal, valid and binding 
obligation of St. Joe. St. Joe has the absolute and unrestricted right, power 
and authority to execute, deliver, and perform its obligations under this 
Agreement. 
 
         4.3 NO CONFLICT. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agreement 
by St. Joe nor the consummation or performance of any of the Contemplated 
Transactions by St. Joe will give any Person the right to prevent, delay or 
otherwise interfere with any of the Contemplated Transactions pursuant to: 
 
             (i)      any provision of St. Joe's Organizational Documents; 
 
             (ii)     any resolution adopted by the board of directors or the  
         stockholders of St. Joe; 
 
             (iii)    any Legal Requirement or Order to which St. Joe may be 
         subject; or 
 
             (iv)     any Contract to which St. Joe is a party or by which St. 
         Joe may be bound. 
 
         St. Joe is not and will not be required to obtain any Consent from any 
Person in connection with the execution and delivery of this Agreement or the 
consummation or performance of any of the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
         4.4 INVESTMENT INTENT.  St. Joe is acquiring the LP Interests and the 
Shares for its own account and not with a view to their distribution within the 
meaning of Section 2(11) of the Securities Act. 
 
         4.5 CERTAIN PROCEEDINGS. There is no pending Proceeding that has been 
commenced against St. Joe and that challenges or may have the effect of 
preventing, delaying, making illegal  
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or otherwise interfering with any of the Contemplated Transactions. To St. Joe's 
Knowledge, no such Proceeding has been Threatened. 
 
         4.6 BROKERS OR FINDERS. Neither St. Joe nor its officers and agents 
have incurred any obligation or liability, contingent or otherwise, for 
brokerage or finders' fees or agents' commissions or other similar payment in 
connection with this Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
         4.7 HART-SCOTT-RODINO ACT. St. Joe has prepared and filed all documents 
with the Federal Trade Commission and the United States Department of Justice as 
are required to comply with the Hart-Scott-Rodino Act (the "HSR Act") and has 
promptly furnished all materials thereafter requested by any of the regulatory 
agencies having jurisdiction over such filings. St. Joe has obtained an 
acceleration of the applicable waiting period under the HSR Act. 
 
 
                        ARTICLE V - INTENTIONALLY DELETED 
 
 
                       ARTICLE VI - INTENTIONALLY DELETED 
 
 
                       ARTICLE VII - INTENTIONALLY DELETED 
 
 
                        ARTICLE VIII - RELATED AGREEMENTS 
 
         8.1 RELATED AGREEMENTS. At Closing the parties, as applicable, shall 
have executed and delivered the following related agreements (collectively, the 
"Related Agreements"). 
 
         (a)      An agreement (the "Dominion Group Support Agreement") whereby 
                  Dominion and GSH, Inc. agree to provide certain continuing 
                  support to the Partnership after the Closing Date. 
 
         (b)      An agreement (the"Support and Shared Services Agreement") 
                  whereby HK, LP and Armada/Hoffler Holding Company agree to 
                  provide certain continuing support and services to the 
                  Partnership after the Closing Date. 
 
         (c)      An agreement (the "Termination Agreement") to terminate the 
                  Noncompetition Agreement dated as of July 31, 1993, as 
                  amended, between the Partnership, the GSH Group, and the HK 
                  Group (as defined therein). 
 
         (d)      An agreement (the "Armada/Hoffler Guaranty") pursuant to which 
                  Armada/Hoffler Holding Corp. guarantees the performance of the 
                  obligations of HK, LP under this Agreement. 
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         (e)      An agreement (the "Payroll Services Agreement") whereby GSH, 
                  Inc. agrees to provide certain continuing payroll services to 
                  the Partnership after the Closing Date. 
 
         (f)      Agreements (collectively, the "Minority Seller Agreements"), 
                  pursuant to which each of the selling Minority Partners and 
                  Minority Shareholders agrees to, among other things, (i) 
                  convey all owned LP Interests and Shares to St. Joe in 
                  accordance with the terms of Article II of this Agreement, and 
                  (ii) waive any and all rights of notice, first refusal, or 
                  otherwise such Person may have under any existing agreements 
                  with respect to transfers of the LP Interests or the Shares. 
 
         (g)      An agreement (the "Stanton Obligations Agreement") pursuant to 
                  which St. Joe guarantees certain obligations of GSH, Inc. to 
                  Robert F. Stanton. 
 
         (h)      An agreement (the "St. Joe Guaranty") pursuant to which The 
                  St. Joe Company guarantees the obligations of St. Joe 
                  hereunder. 
 
                ARTICLE IX - SURVIVAL; INDEMNIFICATION; REMEDIES 
 
         9.1      SURVIVAL; RIGHT TO INDEMNIFICATION. All representations, 
warranties, covenants and obligations in this Agreement and the certificates 
delivered pursuant to Section 6.9 and any other certificate or document 
delivered pursuant to this Agreement shall survive for the time periods set 
forth in Section 9.5 below. The right to indemnification, payment of Damages or 
other remedy based on such representations, warranties, covenants and 
obligations will not be affected by any investigation conducted with respect to 
or any Knowledge acquired (or capable of being acquired) at any time, whether 
before or after the execution and delivery of this Agreement with respect to the 
accuracy or inaccuracy of or compliance with any such representation, warranty, 
covenant or obligation. The waiver of any condition based on the accuracy of any 
representation or warranty or on the performance of or compliance with any 
covenant or obligation will not affect the right to indemnification, payment of 
Damages or other remedy based on such representations, warranties, covenants and 
obligations. 
 
         9.2      INDEMNIFICATION AND PAYMENT OF DAMAGES BY THE CONTROL GROUP.  
Each of the Control Group, jointly and severally, will indemnify and hold 
harmless each of St. Joe and its respective stockholders, officers, directors, 
partners, controlling persons and affiliates from any loss, liability, claim, 
damage, fine, penalty (excluding incidental and consequential damages), expense 
(including costs of investigation and defense and reasonable attorneys' and 
accountants' fees) or diminution of value whether or not involving a third-party 
claim (collectively, "Damages") arising, directly or indirectly, from or in 
connection with: 
 
                  (i)  any Breach of any representation or warranty made by the 
         Control Group in this Agreement or any other certificate or document 
         delivered by the Control Group pursuant to this Agreement; 
 
                  (ii) any Breach by the Control Group of any covenant or  
         obligation in this Agreement; 
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                  (iii) any services provided before Closing by the Companies or 
         any of its present or former officers, directors, employees and agents, 
         including specifically, but without limitation, negligent acts or 
         omissions with respect to obligations under Management Agreements that 
         result in Material Environmental, Health and Safety Liabilities; 
         provided however, that Damages hereunder shall not include unpaid 
         contractual obligations of any of the Companies or of any other Person 
         in connection with services provided before Closing in the Ordinary 
         Course of Business or as otherwise disclosed in this Agreement, except 
         to the extent of additional costs, interest, and expenses attributable 
         to or arising from a pre-closing default of such obligations; and 
 
                  (iv)  any claim by any Person for brokerage or finders' fees  
         or commissions or similar payments based upon any agreement or 
         understanding alleged to have been made by any such Person with any of 
         the Companies or the Control Group (or any Person acting on their 
         behalf) in connection with any of the Contemplated Transactions. 
 
The remedies provided in this Section 9.2 will not be exclusive or limit any 
other remedies that may be available to St. Joe or other Indemnified Parties. 
 
         9.3      INDEMNIFICATION AND PAYMENT OF DAMAGES BY ST. JOE. St. Joe 
will indemnify and hold harmless the Control Group against any Damages arising, 
directly or indirectly, from or in connection with: 
 
                  (i)   any Breach of any representation or warranty made by St. 
         Joe in this  Agreement or in any certificate or documents delivered by 
         St. Joe pursuant to this Agreement; 
 
                  (ii)  any Breach by St. Joe of any covenant or obligation of 
         St. Joe in this Agreement; and 
 
                  (iii) any services provided after Closing by the Companies or 
         any of its present or former officers, directors, employees and agents; 
         and 
 
                   (iv) any claim by any Person for brokerage or finders' fees 
         or commissions or similar payments based upon any agreement or 
         understanding alleged to have been made by any such Person with St. Joe 
         (or any Person acting on its behalf) in connection with any of the 
         Contemplated Transactions. 
 
         9.4       ASSERTION OF CLAIMS. In the event that a party desires to  
make a claim under this Article IX (an "Indemnification Claim"), the party to be 
indemnified (the "Indemnified Party") will give the other party (the 
"Indemnifying Party") prompt notice of any such Indemnification Claim and, in 
the event such Indemnification Claim involves any suit, action or other 
proceeding, pending or threatened, the Indemnifying Party will undertake the 
defense thereof by representatives chosen by it which are reasonably 
satisfactory to the Indemnified Party. The failure to promptly notify the 
Indemnifying Party hereunder shall not relieve such party of its obligations 
hereunder, except to the extent that the Indemnifying Party is actually 
prejudiced by such failure to give notice. If the Indemnifying Party, within a 
reasonable time after notice of  
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any such Indemnification Claim, fails to defend such Indemnification Claim, the 
Indemnified Party will have the right to undertake the defense, compromise or 
settlement of such Indemnification Claim on behalf of and for the account and 
risk of the Indemnifying Party, subject to the right of the Indemnifying Party 
to assume the defense of such Indemnification Claim at any time prior to 
settlement, compromise or final determination thereof. The Indemnified Party 
shall, at the request and expense of the Indemnifying Party, provide reasonable 
assistance in the defense of any such Indemnification Claim. If the Indemnifying 
Party has undertaken defense of an Indemnification Claim and if there is a 
reasonable probability that (i) an Indemnification Claim may materially and 
adversely affect the Indemnified Party other than as a result of money damages 
or other money payments or (ii) the Indemnified Party or parties may have legal 
defenses available to it which are different from or additional to the defenses 
available to the Indemnifying Party, the Indemnified Party shall have the right, 
at the Indemnifying Party's expense, to jointly control the defense, compromise 
or settlement of such Indemnification Claim. In all events an Indemnified Party 
shall have the right to participate in its defense at its own expense. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Indemnifying Party shall be liable for any 
compromise or settlement of any action or proceeding effected without its 
written consent (which shall not be unreasonably withheld). The Indemnifying 
Party shall not, without the written consent of the Indemnified Party, settle or 
compromise any Indemnification Claim or consent to the entry of any judgment 
with respect to the Indemnified Party which does not include as an unconditional 
term thereof the giving by the claimant or the plaintiff to the Indemnified 
Party a release from all liability in respect of such Indemnification Claim. 
 
         9.5 INDEMNITY LIMITS. 
 
         (a) The Control Group will have no liability (for indemnification or 
otherwise) with respect to any representation or warranty, or covenant or 
obligation to be performed and complied with, other than those in Sections 3.2 
(Authority), 3.4 (Ownership of Interests and Shares), 3.5 (Capitalization of 
Subsidiaries), 3.13 (Taxes), 3.24 (Environmental Matters), 3.25 (Employee 
Matters), Section 3.32 (Year 2000), and Sections 9.2(iii) and (iv), unless on or 
before December 31, 1999, St. Joe notifies the Control Group in writing of a 
claim specifying the factual basis of that claim in reasonable detail to the 
extent then known by St. Joe. The Control Group will have no liability (for 
indemnification or otherwise) with respect to a claim under Section 3.13 (Taxes) 
unless on or before 30 days after the expiration of the statute of limitations 
(as tolled or extended) applicable to such claim, St. Joe notifies the Control 
Group in writing of such claim specifying the factual basis of that claim in 
reasonable detail to the extent then known by St. Joe. The Control Group will 
have no liability (for indemnification or otherwise) with respect to a claim 
under Section 3.25 (Employee Matters), Section 3.24 (Environmental Matters), 
Section 3.32 (Year 2000), or Section 9.2(iii) unless on or before the third 
anniversary of the Closing Date, St. Joe notifies the Control Group in writing 
of such claim specifying the factual basis of that claim in reasonable detail to 
the extent then known by St. Joe. A claim with respect to Sections 3.2 
(Authority) or 3.4 (Ownership of Interests and Shares) may be made at any time. 
Except for obligations set forth under Section 2.2 and 9.3(iii), St. Joe will 
have no liability (for indemnification or otherwise) with respect to any 
representation or warranty, or covenant or obligation to be performed and 
complied with pursuant to this Agreement, unless on or before December 31, 1999, 
the Control Group notifies St. Joe of a claim specifying the factual basis of 
that claim in reasonable detail to the extent then known by the Control Group. 
St. Joe will have   
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no liability (for indemnification or otherwise) with respect to a claim under 
Section 9.3(iii) unless on or before the third anniversary of the Closing Date, 
a member of the Control Group notifies St. Joe in writing of such claim 
specifying the factual basis of that claim in reasonable detail to the extent 
then known by such member. 
 
(b) No Indemnification Claim will be made by the Indemnified Party under this 
Article IX unless the aggregate of all Damages incurred by the Indemnified Party 
exceeds $60,000.00, and then only for the amount by which such Damages exceed 
$60,000.00, and in no event shall the Indemnifying Party be liable for Damages 
in excess of the amount of the Purchase Price. 
 
(c) The aggregate individual liability under this Agreement of: 
 
                  (i)   HK Associates, L.P. shall not exceed an amount equal to 
         36.03% of the Purchase Price; and 
 
                  (ii)  Dominion Capital, Inc. and Goodman-Segar-Hogan, Inc.  
         together shall not exceed an amount equal to 37.53% of the Purchase 
         Price. 
 
(d) Any indemnification payment required to be made by any party under this 
Article IX shall be reduced by any insurance proceeds which the Indemnified 
Party is entitled to receive with respect to the indemnified claim, and 
increased by the costs and expenses incurred by the Indemnified Party in 
collecting such insurance proceeds. 
 
(e) The limitations contained in the preceding subparagraphs (b) and (c) shall 
not apply to: 
 
                  (i)   the obligations of St. Joe under Section 2.2; 
 
                  (ii)  the obligations of GSH, Inc. and Dominion, due to (x) an 
         intentional breach of a Material representation or warranty if either 
         David Heavenridge or Jerry Moore had actual Knowledge (without due 
         diligence or investigation) of such breach at any time prior to the 
         Closing Date or (y) an intentional breach by GSH, Inc. or Dominion of 
         any Material covenant or obligation under this Agreement. 
 
                  (iii) the obligations of HK, LP, from (x) an intentional 
         breach of a Material representation or warranty if either A. Russell 
         Kirk or Daniel A. Hoffler had actual Knowledge (without due diligence 
         or investigation) of such breach at any time prior to the Closing Date 
         or (y) an intentional breach by HK, LP of any Material covenant or 
         obligation under this Agreement. 
 
         9.6      SET-OFF. In the event that any of the Control Group is  
obligated to pay any Damages to St. Joe pursuant to Section 9.2 or is otherwise 
obligated to make payments to St. Joe, St. Joe shall be entitled, at its 
discretion, and upon notice to the affected Person, to set off any such Damages 
or other payment obligations owed to St. Joe against any amounts otherwise 
payable by St. Joe to such Person pursuant to the Promissory Notes or otherwise. 
The exercise of such right of set-off by St. Joe in good faith, whether or not 
ultimately determined to be justified, will not constitute an event of default 
under the Promissory Notes. Neither the exercise 
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of nor the failure to exercise such right of set-off will constitute an election 
of remedies or limit St. Joe in any manner in the enforcement of any other 
remedies that may be available to it. 
 
         9.7 PROCEDURE FOR INDEMNIFICATION--THIRD PARTY CLAIMS. 
 
         (a) Promptly, but in any event within twenty days, after receipt by an 
Indemnified Party under Section 9.2 or 9.3 of notice of the commencement of any 
Proceeding against it, such Indemnified Party will, if a claim is to be made 
against an Indemnifying Party under such Section, give notice to the 
Indemnifying Party of the commencement of such Proceeding, describing such claim 
in reasonable detail and, if possible, indicating the estimated amount of the 
indemnifiable loss that has been or may be sustained by the Indemnified Party. 
 
         (b) If any Proceeding referred to in Section 9.7(a) is brought against 
an Indemnified Party and it gives notice to the Indemnifying Party of the 
commencement of such Proceeding, the Indemnifying Party will be entitled to 
participate in such Proceeding and, to the extent that it wishes (unless (i) the 
Indemnifying Party is also a party to such Proceeding and the Indemnified Party 
determines in good faith that joint representation would be inappropriate, or 
(ii) the Indemnifying Party fails to provide reasonable assurance to the 
Indemnified Party of its financial capacity to defend such Proceeding and 
provide indemnification with respect to such Proceeding), to assume the defense 
of such Proceeding with counsel satisfactory to the Indemnified Party and, after 
notice from the Indemnifying Party to the Indemnified Party of its election to 
assume the defense of such Proceeding, the Indemnifying Party will not, as long 
as it diligently conducts such defense, be liable to the Indemnified Party under 
this Article IX for any fees of other counsel or any other expenses with respect 
to the defense of such Proceeding, in each case subsequently incurred by the 
Indemnified Party in connection with the defense of such Proceeding, other than 
reasonable costs of investigation. If the Indemnifying Party assumes the defense 
of a Proceeding, (i) it will be conclusively established for purposes of this 
Agreement that the claims made in that Proceeding are within the scope of and 
subject to indemnification; (ii) no compromise or settlement of such claims may 
be effected by the Indemnifying Party without the Indemnified Party's consent 
unless (A) there is no finding or admission of any violation of Legal 
Requirements or any violation of the rights of any Person and no effect on any 
other claims that may be made against the Indemnified Party, and (B) the sole 
relief provided is monetary damages that are paid in full by the Indemnifying 
Party; and (iii) the Indemnified Party will have no liability with respect to 
any compromise or settlement of such claims effected without its consent. If 
notice is given to an Indemnifying Party of the commencement of any Proceeding 
and the Indemnifying Party does not, within ten days after the Indemnified 
Party's notice is given, give notice to the Indemnified Party of its election to 
assume the defense of such Proceeding, the Indemnifying Party will be bound by 
any determination made in such Proceeding or any compromise or settlement 
effected by the Indemnified Party. 
 
         (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if an Indemnified Party determines 
in good faith that there is a reasonable probability that a Proceeding may 
adversely affect it or its affiliates other than as a result of monetary damages 
for which it would be entitled to indemnification under this Agreement, the 
Indemnified Party may, by notice to the Indemnifying Party, assume the exclusive 
right to defend, compromise, or settle such Proceeding, but the Indemnifying 
Party  
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will not be bound by any determination of a Proceeding so defended or any 
compromise or settlement effected without its consent (which may not be 
unreasonably withheld). 
 
         (d)  The Control Group hereby consents to the non-exclusive  
jurisdiction of any court in which a Proceeding is brought against any 
Indemnified Party for purposes of any claim that an Indemnified Party may have 
under this Agreement with respect to such Proceeding or the matters alleged 
therein, and agrees that process may be served on the Control Group with respect 
to such a claim anywhere in the world. 
 
         9.8  PROCEDURE FOR INDEMNIFICATION--OTHER CLAIMS. A claim for 
indemnification for any matter not involving a third-party claim may be asserted 
by notice to the party from whom indemnification is sought. 
 
 
                         ARTICLE X - GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
         10.1 EXPENSES. Each of the Control Group and St. Joe and will bear its 
respective expenses incurred in connection with the preparation, execution and 
performance of this Agreement and the Contemplated Transactions, including all 
fees and expenses of Representatives. 
 
         10.2 ANNOUNCEMENTS. Any public announcement or similar publicity with 
respect to this Agreement or the Contemplated Transaction prior to Closing will 
be issued, if at all, at such time and in such manner as St. Joe, Dominion and 
HK, L.P. mutually determine. Unless consented to by St. Joe, Dominion and HK, 
L.P. in advance or required by Legal Requirements, each party hereto shall keep 
this Agreement strictly confidential and may not make any disclosure of this 
Agreement to any Person. The Control Group and St. Joe will consult with each 
other concerning the means by which the Partnership's employees, customers, 
consultants and suppliers and others having dealings with the Partnership will 
be informed of the Contemplated Transactions, and St. Joe will have the right to 
be present for any such communication. 
 
         10.3 CONFIDENTIALITY. Each party hereto will maintain in confidence and 
will cause their respective directors, officers, employees, agents, consultants 
and advisors to maintain in confidence, any written, oral or other information 
obtained in confidence from another party hereto or the Partnership in 
connection with this Agreement or the Contemplated Transactions, unless (i) such 
information is already known to such party or to others not bound by a duty of 
confidentiality or such information becomes publicly available through no fault 
of such party, (ii) the use of such information is necessary or appropriate in 
making any filing or obtaining any consent or approval required for the 
consummation of the Contemplated Transactions, or (iii) the furnishing or use of 
such information is required by legal proceedings; provided, however, that in 
the event of disclosure pursuant to (ii) or (iii) hereof, such disclosing party 
shall agree to provide prompt written notice to the other parties hereto prior 
to disclosure and to disclose only that portion of the confidential information 
which is legally required or otherwise necessary. 
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If the Contemplated Transactions are not consummated, each party will return or 
destroy as much of written confidential information as the other party may 
reasonably request. Whether or not the Closing takes place, each of the Control 
Group, the Partnership, and the General Partner waives any cause of action, 
right, or claim arising out of the access of St. Joe or its Representatives to 
any trade secrets or other confidential information of the Companies, except for 
the intentional competitive misuse by St. Joe of such trade secrets or 
confidential information. 
 
         10.4 ENFORCEMENT COSTS. If any civil action, arbitration or other legal 
proceeding is brought for the enforcement of this Agreement, or because of an 
alleged dispute, breach, default or misrepresentation in connection with any 
provision of this Agreement, the successful or prevailing party or parties shall 
be entitled to recover reasonable attorneys' fees, sales and use taxes, court 
costs and all expenses even if not taxable as court costs (including, without 
limitation, all such fees, taxes, costs and expenses incident to arbitration, 
appellate, bankruptcy and post-judgment proceedings), incurred in that civil 
action, arbitration or legal proceeding, in addition to any other relief to 
which such party or parties may be entitled. Attorneys' fees shall include, 
without limitation, paralegal fees, investigative fees, administrative costs, 
sales and use taxes and all other charges billed by the attorney to the 
prevailing party. In the event of mediation or other informal dispute resolution 
proceeding, each party shall bear its own costs. 
 
         10.5 EQUITABLE REMEDIES. Each of the parties acknowledges that the 
other parties hereto will be irreparably damaged (and damages at law would be an 
inadequate remedy) if this Agreement is not specifically enforced. Therefore, in 
the event of a breach or threatened breach by any party of any provision of this 
Agreement, the other parties hereto shall be entitled, in addition to any other 
rights or remedies or law or in equity to which such party may be entitled, to 
an injunction restraining such breach, without being required to show any actual 
damage or to post an injunction bond, and/or to a decree for specific 
performance of the provisions of this Agreement. 
 
         10.6 NOTICES. All notices, consents, waivers and other communications 
under this Agreement must be in writing and will be deemed to have been duly 
given when (a) delivered by hand (with written confirmation of receipt), (b) 
sent by telecopier (with written confirmation of receipt), provided that a copy 
is mailed by registered mail, return receipt requested, or (c) when received by 
the addressee, if sent by a nationally recognized overnight delivery service 
(receipt requested) in each case to the appropriate addresses and telecopier 
numbers set forth below (or to such other addresses and telecopier numbers as a 
party may designate by notice to the other parties): 
 
To St. Joe: 
The St. Joe Partnership 
1650 Prudential Drive, Suite 400 
Jacksonville, Florida   32207 
Attention:        David D. Fitch, Senior Vice President 
Telephone:        (904) 396-6600 
Facsimile:        (904) 396-4042 
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With a copy to: 
Robert M. Rhodes, Esquire 
The St. Joe Partnership 
1650 Prudential Drive, Suite 400 
Jacksonville, Florida   32207 
Telephone:        (904) 396-6600 
Facsimile:        (904) 858-5237 
 
With a copy to: 
William R. Waddell, Esquire 
McGuire, Woods, Battle & Boothe LLP 
9000 World Trade Center 
101 W. Main Street 
Norfolk, Virginia  23510 
Telephone:        (757) 640-3700 
Facsimile:        (757) 640-3701 
 
To the Partnership or the General Partner: 
Goodman-Segar-Hogan-Hoffler, L.P. 
900 World Trade Center 
Norfolk, Virginia   23510 
Telephone:        (757) 627-0661 
Facsimile:        (757) 627-1901 
 
To HK, L.P.: 
HK Associates, L.P. 
c/o HK Associates, Inc. 
860 Greenbrier Circle, Suite 600 
Chesapeake, Virginia   23320 
Attention:        Mr. A. Russell Kirk 
Telephone:        (757) 366-4375 
Facsimile:        (757) 523-0370 
 
With a copy to: 
Steven M. Edmonds, Esquire 
Cantor, Arkema & Edmonds 
Post Office Box 561 
Richmond, Virginia   23204-0561 
Telephone:        (804) 644-1400 
Facsimile:        (804) 225-8706 
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To GSH, Inc. or Dominion: 
Dominion Capital, Inc. 
Riverfront Plaza West Tower 
901 East Byrd Street 
Richmond, Virginia   23219 
Attention:        David L. Heavenridge 
Telephone:        (804) 775-5801 
Facsimile:        (804) 775-3742 
 
With a copy to: 
Steven M. Edmonds, Esquire 
Cantor, Arkema & Edmonds 
Post Office Box 561 
Richmond, Virginia   23204-0561 
Telephone:        (804) 644-1400 
Facsimile:        (804) 225-8706 
 
         10.7 DISPUTE RESOLUTION. The parties will attempt in good faith to 
resolve any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement 
promptly by negotiations between senior executives of the parties who have 
authority to settle the controversy. 
 
The disputing party shall give the other party written notice of the dispute. 
Within twenty days after receipt of said notice, the receiving party shall 
submit to the other a written response. The notice and response shall include 
(a) a statement of each party's position and a summary of the evidence and 
arguments supporting its position, and (b) the name and title of the executive 
who will represent that party. The executives shall meet at a mutually 
acceptable time and place within thirty days of the date of the disputing 
party's notice and thereafter as often as they reasonably deem necessary to 
exchange relevant information and to attempt to resolve the dispute. 
 
If a negotiator intends to be accompanied at a meeting by an attorney, the other 
negotiator shall be given at least three working days' notice of such intention 
and may also be accompanied by an attorney. All negotiations pursuant to this 
Section are confidential and shall be treated as compromise and settlement 
negotiations for purposes of the Federal Rules of Evidence and state rules of 
evidence. 
 
If the matter has not been resolved within sixty days of the disputing party's 
notice, or if the party receiving said notice will not meet within thirty days, 
either party may initiate mediation of the controversy or claim in accordance 
with the Center for Public Resources Model Procedure for Mediation of Business 
Disputes. 
 
If the matter has not been resolved pursuant to the aforesaid mediation 
procedure within sixty days of the initiation of such procedure, (i) the parties 
may agree to settlement by binding arbitration under the Commercial Arbitration 
Rules of the American Arbitration Association or (ii) in the absence of such 
agreement, either party may initiate litigation upon ten days' written notice to 
the other party. The place of arbitration shall be Norfolk, Virginia. 
 
 
 
                                      -43- 



   44 
 
All deadlines specified in this Section 10.7 may be reduced or extended by 
mutual agreement. 
 
The procedures specified in this Section 10.7 shall be the sole and exclusive 
procedures for the resolution of disputes between the parties arising out of or 
relating to this agreement; provided, however, that a party may seek a 
preliminary injunction or other preliminary judicial relief if in its judgment 
such action is necessary to avoid irreparable damage. Despite such action the 
parties will continue to participate in good faith in the procedures specified 
in this Section 10.7. All applicable statutes of limitation shall be tolled 
while the procedures specified in this Section 10.7 are pending. The parties 
will take such action, if any, required to effectuate such tolling. 
 
         10.8  FURTHER ASSURANCES. The parties agree (i) to furnish upon request 
to each other such further information, (ii) to execute and deliver to each 
other such other documents, and (iii) to do such other acts and things all as 
the other party may reasonably request for the purpose of carrying out the 
intent of this Agreement and the documents referred to in this Agreement. 
 
         10.9  WAIVER. The rights and remedies of the parties to this Agreement 
are cumulative and not alternative. Neither the failure nor any delay by any 
party in exercising any right, power or privilege under this Agreement or the 
documents referred to in this Agreement will operate as a waiver of such right, 
power or privilege, and no single or partial exercise of any such right, power 
or privilege will preclude any other or further exercise of such right, power or 
privilege or the exercise of any other right, power or privilege. To the maximum 
extent permitted by applicable law (i) no claim or right arising out of this 
Agreement can be discharged by a party, in whole or in part, by a waiver or 
renunciation of the claim or right unless in writing signed by the party 
possessing such right, (ii) no waiver that may be given by a party will be 
applicable except in the specific instance for which it is given, and (iii) no 
notice to or demand on one party will be deemed to be a waiver of any obligation 
of such party or of the right of the party giving such notice or demand to take 
further action without notice or demand as provided in this Agreement; 
 
         10.10 ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT. This Agreement supersedes all 
prior agreements between the parties with respect to its subject matter 
including without limitation that certain letter of intent dated May 18, 1998, 
as amended, and constitutes (along with the documents referred to in this 
Agreement) a complete and exclusive statement of the terms of the agreement 
between the parties with respect to its subject matter. This Agreement may not 
be amended except by a written agreement executed by all parties. 
 
         10.11 ASSIGNMENTS, SUCCESSORS AND NO THIRD-PARTY RIGHTS. No party may 
assign any of its rights under this Agreement without the prior consent of the 
other parties, which will not be unreasonably withheld. Subject to the preceding 
sentence, this Agreement will apply to, be binding in all respects upon and 
inure to the benefit of the heirs and legal representatives, successors and 
permitted assigns of the parties. Nothing expressed or referred to in this 
Agreement will be construed to give any Person other than the parties to this 
Agreement any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or with respect to 
this Agreement or any provision of this Agreement. This Agreement and all of its 
provisions and conditions are for the sole and exclusive benefit of the parties 
to this Agreement and their heirs and legal representatives, successors and 
assigns. 
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         10.12 SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreement is held invalid 
or unenforceable by any court of competent jurisdiction, the other provisions of 
this Agreement will remain in full force and effect. Any provision of this 
Agreement held invalid or unenforceable only in part or degree will remain in 
full force and effect to the extent not held invalid or unenforceable. 
 
         10.13 SECTION HEADINGS, CONSTRUCTION. The headings of Sections in this 
Agreement are provided for convenience only and will not affect its construction 
or interpretation. All references to "Article", "Section" or "Sections" refer to 
the corresponding Article, Section or Sections of this Agreement. All words used 
in this Agreement will be construed to be of such gender or number as the 
circumstances require. Unless otherwise expressly provided, the word "including" 
does not limit the preceding words or terms. 
 
         10.14 TIME OF ESSENCE. With regard to all dates and time periods set 
forth or referred to in this Agreement, time is of the essence. 
 
         10.15 EXHIBITS. 
 
         (a)   The disclosures in the Exhibits, as supplemented and amended, 
must relate only to the representations and warranties in the Section of the 
Agreement to which they expressly relate and not to any other representation or 
warranty in this Agreement. 
 
         (b)   In the event of any inconsistency between the statements in the 
body of this Agreement and those in the Exhibits (other than an exception 
expressly set forth as such in the Exhibits with respect to a specifically 
identified representation or warranty), the statements in the body of this 
Agreement will control. 
 
         10.16 GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement will be governed by the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Virginia without regard to conflicts of laws principles. 
 
         10.17 COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in one or more 
counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an original copy of this 
Agreement and all of which when taken together will be deemed to constitute one 
and the same agreement. 
 
[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW] 
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         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed and delivered this 
Agreement as of the date first written above. 
 
 
                                 ST. JOE COMMERCIAL PROPERTY 
                                 SERVICES, INC. 
 
 
                                 By: 
                                    ------------------------------------------- 
                                 Name: 
                                      ----------------------------------------- 
                                 Title: 
                                       ---------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                 DOMINION CAPITAL, INC. 
 
 
                                 By: 
                                    ------------------------------------------- 
                                 Name: 
                                      ----------------------------------------- 
                                 Title: 
                                       ---------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                 H K ASSOCIATES, L.P. 
 
                                 By:  H K, Inc., as general partner 
 
                                 By: 
                                    ------------------------------------------- 
                                 Name: 
                                      ----------------------------------------- 
                                 Title: 
                                       ---------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                 GOODMAN-SEGAR-HOGAN, INC. 
 
 
                                 By: 
                                    ------------------------------------------- 
                                 Name: 
                                      ----------------------------------------- 
                                 Title: 
                                       ---------------------------------------- 
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                                 GOODMAN-SEGAR-HOGAN- 
                                    HOFFLER, INC. 
 
 
                                 By: 
                                    ------------------------------------------- 
                                 Name: 
                                      ----------------------------------------- 
                                 Title: 
                                       ---------------------------------------- 
 
 
                                 GOODMAN-SEGAR-HOGAN- 
                                    HOFFLER, L.P. 
 
                                 By:  Goodman-Segar-Hogan-Hoffler, Inc., 
                                          as  General Partner 
 
                                 By: 
                                    ------------------------------------------- 
                                 Name: 
                                      ----------------------------------------- 
                                 Title: 
                                       ---------------------------------------- 
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3.25(l):          Non-Solicitation Agreements. 
3.25(m):          Indemnification Agreements. 
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3.32(a):          Year 2K: Computer Systems List and Summary. 
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Related Agreements 
 
Dominion Group Support Agreement. 
Armada/Hoffler Support and Shared Services Agreement. 
Termination Agreement. 
Armada/Hoffler Guaranty. 
GSH, Inc. Payroll Services Agreement 
St. Joe Guaranty 
Stanton Obligations Agreement 
Minority Sellers' Agreements 
Closing Agreement 
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THIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ST. JOE CORPORATION FOR THE NINE MONTH PERIOD ENDED 
SEPTEMBER 30, 1998 AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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THIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION EXTRACTED FROM THE  
FINANCIAL STATEMENT OF ST. JOE CORPORATION FOR THE 9 MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,  
1997 AND IS QUALIFIED IN TIS ENTIRETY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. 
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                                                                   EXHIBIT 99.01 
 
 
 
The St. Joe Company 
Supplemental Calculation of Selected Consolidated Financial data 
(Dollars in thousands) 
The following table calculates EBDDT (Gross), EBDDT (Net) and EBITDA (Gross) and 
EBITDA (Net) 
 
 
 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                      9/30/98       09/30/97 
 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                  
Net income                                              24,765        28,281 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Plus: 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Depreciation and amortization                          27,560        22,599 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Deferred taxes                                          7,762        10,793 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Less: 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Gain on sales of other assets                            (961)       (3,305) 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
EBDDT - Gross                                           59,126        58,368 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Less minority interest % of FECI 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Depreciation                                           (9,493)       (8,312) 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Deferred taxes                                            (89)         (200) 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Gain on sales of other assets                             108           705 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
EBDDT - Net                                             49,652        50,561 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Income from continuing operations 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 before income taxes and minority interest              68,642        74,665 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Add back: 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Depreciation and amortization                          27,560        22,599 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Interest expense                                          301           331 
 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Less: 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Gain on sales of other assets                            (961)       (3,305) 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
EBITDA - Gross                                          95,542        94,290 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Less minority interest % of FECI 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Income before income taxes                            (23,345)      (21,504) 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Depreciation and amortization                          (9,493)       (8,312) 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Interest expense                                         (114)         (152) 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 Gain on sales of other assets                             108           705 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
EBITDA - Net                                            62,698        65,027 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


